

HARMONIC MORPHISMS AND DEFORMATION OF MINIMAL SURFACES IN MANIFOLDS OF DIMENSION 4

Ali Makki

► To cite this version:

Ali Makki. HARMONIC MORPHISMS AND DEFORMATION OF MINIMAL SURFACES IN MAN-IFOLDS OF DIMENSION 4. Differential Geometry [math.DG]. LMPT - Laboratoire de Mathématiques et Physique Théorique; FRDP - Fédération de recherche Denis Poisson, 2014. English. NNT : . tel-01078598

HAL Id: tel-01078598 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01078598

Submitted on 29 Oct 2014

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

UNIVERSITÉ FRANÇOIS RABELAIS DE TOURS

École Doctorale Mathématiques, Informatiques, Physique théoriques et Ingénierie de systèmes Laboratoire de Mathématiques et Physique Théorique

> THÈSE présenté par : Ali MAKKI

soutenue le : 26 mai 2014

pour obtenir le grade de : Docteur de l'Université François - Rabelais de Tours Discipline/ Spécialité : Mathématiques Pures

MORPHISMES HARMONIQUES ET DEFORMATION DE SURFACES MINIMALES DANS DES VARIÉTÉS DE DIMENSION 4

THÈSE DIRIGÉE PAR : SORET Marc VILLE Marina	Maître de Conférences, Université François-Rabelais, Tours Chargée de recherches, Université François-Rabelais, Tours
RAPPORTEURS :	
BAIRD Paul	Professeur, Université de Bretagne Occidentale
WOOD John C.	Professeur, Université de Leeds, Grande-Bretagne
JURY :	
EL SOUFI Ahmad	Professeur, Université François - Rabelais, Tours, Président du jury
BAIRD Paul	Professeur, Université de Bretagne Occidentale
SORET Marc	Maître de Conférences, Université François - Rabelais, Tours
VILLE Marina	Chargée de recherches, Université François - Rabelais, Tours
WOOD John C.	Professeur, Université de Leeds, Grande-Bretagne

Cette thése est dédiée à mes parents

Tayssir et Nouhad

Remerciements

La finalisation de ce rapport de thèse marque l'accomplissement d'un projet. Quatre années qui n'ont pas toujours été faciles, des doutes, des questionnements. De l'amour au chagrin, du chagrin au néant, du néant à la résurrection: ceci est mon histoire avec les mathématiques, mon voyage, et je tiens à remercier les personnes qui m'ont accompagné.

Je souhaite exprimer ma profonde gratitude à Marc Soret qui a encadré mon travail de recherche. Sa disponibilité, son calme et ses précieux conseils m'ont beaucoup aidé. Merci pour tout ce que tu m'as apporté Marc, pour m'avoir fait découvrir la beauté des surfaces minimales et pour ton soutien.

Je tiens à exprimer ma profonde gratitude à Marina Ville qui a su parfaitement encadrer mon travail. Grâce à sa gentillesse et aux conseils qu'elle m'a donnés, j'ai pu apprendre, comprendre et mener ma recherche avec un réel plaisir. En cela, elle a répondu à toutes mes attentes en tant que doctorant. J'ai sincèrement apprécié travailler avec elle et suis reconnaissant pour le temps qu'elle m'a consacré ainsi que sa patience pour m'apprendre à écrire correctement les mathématiques. Merci Marina pour tes conseils et tes questions qui ont guidé mon travail de recherche dans une bonne direction.

Je voudrais exprimer toute ma reconnaissance à Ahmad El Soufi qui a co-encadré mon travail. Dès mon arrivée en France tu m'as apporté beaucoup d'aide et de soutien. Merci de m'avoir orienté vers le sujet des morphismes harmoniques et surfaces minimales et de m'avoir présenté à Marc et Marina.

J'exprime ma profond gratitude à Paul Baird et John C. Wood pour le temps consacré à rapporter cette thèse, pour leurs appréciations encourageantes et inspiratrices.

Je tiens à remercier également Sorin Dragomir d'avoir accepté de faire partie de mon jury.

Je tiens à exprimer mes remerciements aux responsables du département de mathématiques et du LMPT pour la chance qui m'a été offerte de réaliser ce travail de recherche.

Je souhaite exprimer mon amour et ma gratitude à mon frère, qui était, malgré la

distance, si proche et si présent en moi. Sans ton soutien Ahmad, ce travail n'aurait pas pu voir le jour et ce passage du néant à la résurrection n'aurait pas pu être possible. Je voudrais aussi exprimer mes remerciements à mes parents et ma famille. Ils m'ont toujours encouragé et soutenu durant ces années.

Quant à mes collèges du bureau, vous n'êtes pas parfaits c'est vrai mais je vous aime tous et toutes. Je remercie aussi nos secrétaires Anne-Marie, Bernadette, Anouchka et Linda pour leur gentillesse et leur joie de vivre.

REMERCIEMENTS

REMERCIEMENTS

Abstract

In this thesis, we are interested in harmonic morphisms between Riemannian manifolds (M^m, g) and (N^n, h) for m > n. Such a smooth map is a harmonic morphism if it pulls back local harmonic functions to local harmonic functions: if $f: V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is a harmonic function on an open subset V on N and $\phi^{-1}(V)$ is non-empty, then the composition $f \circ \phi : \phi^{-1}(V) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is harmonic. The conformal transformations of the complex plane are harmonic morphisms.

In the late 1970's Fuglede and Ishihara published two papers ([Fu]) and ([Is]), where they discuss their results on harmonic morphisms or mappings preserving harmonic functions. They characterize non-constant harmonic morphisms $F: (M, g) \longrightarrow (N, h)$ between Riemannian manifolds as those harmonic maps, which are horizontally conformal, where Fhorizontally conformal means : for any $x \in M$ with $dF(x) \neq 0$, the restriction of dF(x) to the orthogonal complement of kerdF(x) in T_xM is conformal and surjective. This means that we are dealing with a special class of harmonic maps.

The theory becomes very successful when the codomain N is a surface. In this case, the harmonic morphisms have particular properties. Note the conformal invariance : the equations of harmonic morphisms with values in a Riemannien manifold N of dimension 2 depend only of the conformal class of the metric on N.

In this thesis we focus on the case when the codomain is a surface. The geometric characterization due to Baird and Eells ([B-E]) reduces the problem of harmonicity to the minimality of the fibres (at regular points): If dimN = 2 a horizontally conformal map is harmonic (then a harmonic morphism) if and only if the regular fibers are minimal in M. If dimN > 2, a harmonic morphism has minimal fibers if and only if it is horizontally homothetic.

The study of harmonic morphisms from 4-dimensional Einstein manifolds to Riemann surfaces has been greatly simplified with the aid of twistor methods. In some cases even, a complete classification of these maps has been found, see [B-W, Vi1, Wo].

J. Wood in [Wo] (complemented by M. Ville [Vi1]) proved that when the domain is a 4-dimensional Einstein manifold and the codomain is a surface, a harmonic morphism can be equivalently characterized as a map which is holomorphic with respect to some

ABSTRACT

integrable Hermitian structure on its domain and has superminimal fibres. It follows that there do not exist non-constant harmonic morphisms from (\mathbb{S}^4, can) into a Riemann surface.

In chapter 2, we investigate the structure of a harmonic morphism F from a Riemannian 4-manifold M^4 to a 2-surface N^2 near a critical point m_0 . If m_0 is an isolated critical point or if M^4 is compact without boundary, we show that F is pseudo-holomorphic w.r.t. an almost Hermitian structure defined in a neighbourhood of m_0 . If M^4 is compact without boundary, the singular fibres of F are branched minimal surfaces.

In chapter 3, we study examples of harmonic morphisms due to Burel from $(\mathbb{S}^4, g_{k,l})$ into \mathbb{S}^2 where $(g_{k,l})$ is a family of metrics which are conformal to the canonical metric. To do this construction we define the two maps, F from $(\mathbb{S}^4, g_{k,l})$ to $(\mathbb{S}^3, g_{k,l})$ and $\varphi_{k,l}$ from $(\mathbb{S}^3, g_{k,l})$ to (\mathbb{S}^2, can) ; these two maps are both horizontally conformal and harmonic. The map $\Phi_{k,l} = \varphi_{k,l} \circ F$ is a harmonic morphism. It follows from Baird-Eells that the regular fibres of $\Phi_{k,l}$ for every k, l are minimal. If |k| = |l| = 1, the set of critical points is given by the preimage of the north pole : it consists in two 2-spheres meeting transversally at 2 points. If $k, l \neq 1$ the set of critical points are the preimages of the north pole (the same two spheres as for k = l = 1 but with multiplicity l) together with the preimage of the south pole (a torus) with multiplicity k.

Finally, in chapter 4, we investigate a construction by Baird-Ou of harmonic morphisms from open sets of $(\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2, can)$ to a 2-surface \mathbb{S}^2 . We check that they are holomorphic with respect to one of the four canonical Hermitian complex structures.

Keywords: Harmonic Morphism, Minimal Surface, Almost Complex Structure.

Contents

1	Introduction			13
	1.1	Prelin	inaries	13
	1.2	1.2 Harmonic maps and minimal surfaces		15
		1.2.1	Horizontally weakly conformal maps	15
		1.2.2	Harmonic mappings	15
		1.2.3	Minimal submanifolds	17
		1.2.4	Minimal surfaces and branch points	18
		1.2.5	Harmonic morphisms	19
		1.2.6	The mean curvature of the fibres	20
2	2 On harmonic morphisms from 4-manifolds to Riemann surfaces and lo		[
	alm	ost He	ermitian structures	21
	2.1	Introd	uction	21
		2.1.1	Background	21
		2.1.2	The results	22
		2.1.3	Sketch of the paper	23
	2.2	The m	nain lemma	24
		2.2.1	The almost complex structure at regular points	24
		2.2.2	The symbol and its extension in a neighbourhood of a critical point .	24
		2.2.3	The main lemma	25
	2.3	Proof	of Th.6 1): an isolated critical point \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	28
	2.4	Proof	of Th.6 2): M is compact without boundary	29
		2.4.1	Background: twistor spaces	29
		2.4.2	Convergence of the twistor lifts of regular fibres	29
		2.4.3	Construction of the almost complex structure $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
	2.5	Proof	of Prop. 8	34
3 Harmonic morphism		rmonic	morphisms on \mathbb{S}^4	37
	3.1	Introd	luction	37

3.	2 Motiv	$Motivation \dots \dots$		
3.	3 Burel'	s construction $\ldots \ldots 40$		
3.	utation of β			
3.	3.5 The Preimages of $\Phi_{k,l}$			
	3.5.1	The preimage of F		
	3.5.2	The preimage of $\phi_{k,l}$		
	3.5.3	The preimage of the North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1,0,0)$ of \mathbb{S}^2 by $\Phi_{k,l}$		
	3.5.4	The preimage of the South pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ in \mathbb{S}^2 by $\Phi_{k,l}$ 49		
3.	6 Critica	al points of $\Phi_{k,l}$		
	3.6.1	Critical points of F		
	3.6.2	Estimate of β near the endpoints of $\left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$		
	3.6.3	Critical points of $\phi_{k,l}$		
3.	7 Multij	ple fibres		
	3.7.1	Smooth multiple fibres		
3.	8 Multij	ple fibres of $\phi_{kl}: \mathbb{S}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$		
3.	9 Singul	ar multiple fibres		
3.	10 Multi	ple fibres of $\Phi_{kl}: \mathbb{S}^4 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$		
3.	11 Apper	ndix		
4 H	armonic	morphisms and Hermitian complex structures on $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ 63		
4.	1 Introd	luction		
	4.1.1	Background		
	4.1.2	The results		

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Preliminaries

Here we remind the reader of some important notions around harmonic morphisms that we needed. We used the book [B-W] and we refer the reader to it for more details.

Given a smooth map $\phi: M \longrightarrow N$ between manifolds, its differential will be denoted by $d\phi: TM \longrightarrow TN$; for each $x \in M$, this restricts to a linear mapping $d\phi_x: T_xM \longrightarrow T_{\phi(x)}N$ called the differential at x. In local coordinates $(x^1, ..., x^m)$ on M and $(y^1, ..., y^n)$ on N, we shall write $\phi^{\alpha} = y^{\alpha} \circ \phi$ and $\phi_i^{\alpha} = \partial \phi^{\alpha} / \partial x^i$, so that

$$d\phi(\partial/\partial x^i) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \phi_i^\alpha \partial/\partial y^\alpha \tag{1.1}$$

More generally, given bases $\{X_i\}$ and $\{Y_\alpha\}$ of T_xM and $T_{\phi(x)}N$, respectively, we write

$$d\phi_x(X_i) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \phi_i^{\alpha} Y_{\alpha}.$$
(1.2)

If $N = \mathbb{R}$, we can identify the differential $d\phi$ with a 1-form on M, which we also denote by $d\phi$.

By a (smooth) Riemannian metric g on a (smooth) manifold M we mean a symmetric positive-definite inner product on each tangent space:

$$g_x: T_x M \times T_x M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \quad (v, w) \longmapsto g(v, w) \quad (x \in M, v, w \in T_x M)$$
(1.3)

which varies smoothly with x (i.e., for any smooth vector fields E and F, the function $x \mapsto g(E_x, F_x)$ is smooth). We shall often use the notation

$$\langle v, w \rangle = g(v, w) \tag{1.4}$$

when the metric is clear from the context. Canonical or standard metrics will often denoted by *can*. The corresponding norm will be denoted by $|v| = \sqrt{\langle v, v \rangle}$, so that the square norm is given by $|v|^2 = \langle v, v \rangle$. Later on, we shall find it convenient to extend the complexified tangent bundle given by $T^c M = TM \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$.

For the rest of this section, (M,g) will be a smooth Riemannian manifold. In local coordinates $(x^1, ..., x^m)$ on M we write $g = \sum_{i,j} g_{ij} dx^i dx^j$; thus we have $g(\partial x^i, \partial x^j) = g_{ij}$. More generally, if $\{X_i\}$ is a frame on M, we write $g_{ij} = g(X_i, X_j)$. The gradient of a smooth function $f: M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is the vector field characterized by

$$g(gradf, E) = df(E) \quad (x \in M, E \in T_x M)$$
(1.5)

In local coordinates, it has the expression

$$gradf = \sum_{i,j} \left(g^{ij} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^j} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}.$$
 (1.6)

where (g^{ij}) is the inverse matrix of (g_{ij}) . We let $\nabla = \nabla^M$ denote the Levi-Civita connection on M determined by the formula: for any vector fields E,F and G we have

$$\nabla_E F - \nabla_F E = [E, F];$$

$$E(g(F, G)) = g(\nabla_E F, G) + g(F, \nabla_E G).$$
(1.7)

The Levi-Civita connection induces connections on other tensor bundles, e.g., if θ is a 1-form and E a vector field, $\nabla_E \theta$ is the 1-form given by

$$(\nabla_E \theta)(G) = E(\theta(G)) - \theta(\nabla_E G) \quad (G \in \Gamma(TM)),$$

i.e. we have the Leibniz product rule

$$E(\theta(G)) = (\nabla_E \theta)(G) + \theta(\nabla_E G) \quad (G \in \Gamma(TM).$$

Equation (1.7) can then written in the form

$$\nabla g = 0.$$

Now let $\phi : (M, g) \longrightarrow (N, h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds and let $x \in M$. The Hilbert-Schmidt norm $|d\phi_x|$ of its differential at x is defined by

$$|d\phi_x|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m h(d\phi_x(e_i), d\phi_x(e_i)),$$
(1.8)

where $\{e_i\}$ is an orthonormal basis for $T_x M$. Define the pull-back $\phi^* h$ of the metric h by

$$\phi^*h(E,F) = h(d\phi_x(E), d\phi_x(F)) \quad (E,F \in T_xM);$$
(1.9)

then we have

$$|d\phi_x|^2 = Tr_g \phi^* h = \sum_{i=1}^m \phi^* h(e_i, e_i).$$
(1.10)

1.2 Harmonic maps and minimal surfaces

Definition 1. Let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth mapping between Riemannian manifolds. Then ϕ is called a harmonic morphism if, for every harmonic function $f : V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ defined on an open subset V of N with $\phi^{-1}(V)$ non-empty, the composition $f \circ \phi$ is harmonic on $\phi^{-1}(V)$

Thus a harmonic morphism is a smooth map which pulls back (local) harmonic functions to harmonic functions; equivalently, it pulls back germs of harmonic functions to germs of harmonic functions. The most obvious examples of harmonic morphisms are constant maps and isometries.

1.2.1 Horizontally weakly conformal maps

For any smooth map $\phi : (M^m, g) \longrightarrow (N^n, h)$ between Riemannian manifolds, and any regular point $x \in M$, set $V_x = \text{Ker } d\phi_x$ and $H_x = V_x^{\perp}$; then V_x is called the vertical space and H_x the horizontal space of ϕ at x.

Definition 2. Let $\phi : (M^m, g) \longrightarrow (N^n, h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds, and let $x \in M$. Then ϕ is called horizontally weakly conformal or semiconformal at x if either

(i) $d\phi_x = 0, or$

(ii) $d\phi_x$ maps the horizontal space $H_x = \{Ker(d\phi_x)\}^{\perp}$ conformally onto $T_{\phi(x)}N$, i.e., $d\phi_x$ is surjective and there exists a dilation factor $\lambda(x) \neq 0$ such that

$$h(d\phi_x(X), d\phi_x(Y)) = \lambda^2(x)g(X, Y) \quad (X, Y \in H_x).$$

Since a horizontally weakly conformal map is a submersion at regular points, we have the following restriction on dimensions.

Proposition 1. Let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a horizontally weakly conformal map. If dimM < dimN, then ϕ is constant.

1.2.2 Harmonic mappings

1.2.2.1 The Energy

Let (M^m, g) and (N^n, h) be Riemannian manifolds and let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth mapping between them. The energy density of ϕ is the smooth function $e(\phi) : M \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ given by

$$e(\phi)_x = \frac{1}{2} |d\phi_x|^2 \quad (x \in M),$$
 (1.11)

where $|d\phi_x|$ denotes the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of $d\phi_x$ defined by (1.8). Let D be a compact domain of M. The energy of ϕ over D is the integral of its energy density:

$$E(\phi; D) = \int_{D} e(\phi) v_g = \frac{1}{2} \int_{D} |d\phi|^2 v_g, \qquad (1.12)$$

where v_q denotes the volume form.

Note that $E(\phi; D) \ge 0$, with equality if and only if ϕ is constant on D. If M is compact, we write $E(\phi)$ for $E(\phi; M)$.

Let $C^{\infty}(M, N)$ denote the space of all smooth maps from M to N. A map $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ is said to be harmonic if it is a critical point of the energy functional $E(:; D) : C^{\infty}(M, N) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ for any compact domain D. (If M is compact it suffices to check this for D=M). We now explain this more fully. By a smooth variation of ϕ we mean a smooth map

$$\phi: M \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \longrightarrow N, (x, t) \longmapsto \phi_t(x)$$

 $(\epsilon > 0)$ such that $\phi_0 = \phi$.

Definition 3. A smooth map $\phi : (M, g) \longrightarrow (N, h)$ is said to be harmonic if

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(\phi_t;D)|_{t=0} = 0$$
(1.13)

for all compact domains D and all smooth variations $\{\phi_t\}$ of ϕ supported in D.

In order to understand this definition, we will now calculate the left-hand side of (1.13).

1.2.2.2 Tension field

Let M = (M, g) and N = (N, h) be Riemannian manifolds, and suppose that $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ is a smooth mapping between them. The differential $d\phi$ of ϕ can be viewed as a section of the bundle $T^*M \otimes \phi^{-1}TN = Hom(TM, \phi^{-1}TN) \longrightarrow M$. This bundle has a connection ∇ induced from the Levi-Civita connection ∇^M of M and the pull-back connection ∇^{ϕ} of the Levi-Civita connection on N. On applying that connection to $d\phi$, we obtain the second fundamental form of ϕ :

$$B = \nabla d\phi \in \Gamma(T^*M \bigcirc T^*M \otimes \phi^{-1}TN).$$
(1.14)

Explicitly, for $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$,

$$\nabla d\phi(X,Y) = \nabla_X^{\phi}(d\phi(Y)) - d\phi(\nabla_X^M Y).$$
(1.15)

Now let $\phi : (M, g) \longrightarrow (N, h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds. On taking the trace of the second fundamental form, we obtain the following very important quantity.

Definition 4. The tension field of ϕ is the section $\tau(\phi) \in \Gamma(\phi^{-1}TN)$ defined by

$$\tau(\phi) = TrB = B(\phi)(e_1, e_2) = \nabla_{e_1} d\phi(e_1) + \nabla_{e_2} d\phi(e_2)$$
(1.16)

where $\{e_1, e_2\}$ is a normal frame on M.

Proposition 2. (First variation of the energy) Let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth map and let $\{\phi_t\}$ be a smooth variation of ϕ supported in D. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(\phi_t;D)|_{t=0} = -\int_D \langle v,\tau(\phi) \rangle v_g$$
(1.17)

where $v(x) = (\partial \phi_t / \partial t)(x)|_{t=0}$ denotes the variation vector field of $\{\phi_t\}$. Here $\langle ., . \rangle$ denotes the pull-back metric on $\phi^{-1}TN$; explicitly, at any point x of $D, \langle v, \tau(\phi) \rangle = h_{\phi(x)}(v(x), \tau(\phi)_x)$.

Theorem 1. (Harmonic equation, Eells and Sampson, [Ee-Sam]) Let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth map. Then ϕ is harmonic if and only if

$$\tau(\phi) = 0. \tag{1.18}$$

1.2.3 Minimal submanifolds

Let $\phi: M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be an isometric immersion. The mean curvature μ^M of ϕ (or of the immersed submanifold $\phi(M)$ in N) is defined by

$$\mu^{M} = \frac{1}{m} TrB = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{m} B(e_{i}, e_{i}) \quad ((e_{i}) \text{ an orthonormal frame});$$
(1.19)

here B denotes the second fundamental form of the immersed submanifold.

Definition 5. Let $\phi: M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be an immersion; then ϕ is minimal if and only if

$$\mu^M = 0.$$

Proposition 3. Let $\phi: M \longrightarrow N$ be an isometric immersion. Then

$$\tau(\phi) = TrB = (dimM)\mu^M \tag{1.20}$$

Hence, an isometric immersion is harmonic if and only if it is a minimal immersion.

Proof. Let ϕ be an isometric embedding of dimension m. Since $d\phi$ is an isometry, we can identify an orthonormal frame $(e_i)_i$ of TM with $(d\phi(e_i))_i$ and

$$\tau(\phi) = \sum_i \nabla^N_{e_i} e_i - \nabla^M_{e_i} e_i$$

It follows that

$$\tau(\phi) = \sum_{i} \nabla d\phi(e_i, e_i) = \sum_{i} B(e_i, e_i)$$

where B is the second fondamental form. By definition 5, $\tau(\phi) = 0$ if and only if ϕ is minimal.

Proposition 4. A conformal immersion ϕ from a Riemannian manifold M of dimension 2 (or conformal surface) is harmonic if and only if its image is minimal.

Proof. Let the metric $\tilde{g} = \mu g$, where μ is a positive function on M. If (e_i) is an orthonormal basis for g then $\left(\frac{e_i}{\sqrt{\mu}}\right)$ is an orthonormal basis for \tilde{g} . The Hilbert-Schmidt norm becomes

$$|d\phi|^2_{\tilde{g}} = \frac{1}{\mu} |d\phi|^2_g,$$

and the volume form

$$dv_{\tilde{q}} = \mu dv_q.$$

Then the energy of ϕ depends only on the conformal class on M. So ϕ is harmonic for all the metrics on M conformal to g.

1.2.4 Minimal surfaces and branch points

We now consider maps that are not necessarily immersions. To that effect we recall some facts on branch points according to [G-O-R]. Let M be a 2-dimensional differential manifold, and N an n-dimensional differentiable manifold, $n \ge 2$. Let $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ be a differential map. For a point $p \in M$, let (u_1, u_2) be local coordinate around p. In place of (u_1, u_2) we shall often use the complex parameter $z = u_1 + iu_2$.

Definition 6. The map ϕ has a branch point at p if there exists an integer $m \ge 2$ and local coordinates u_1, u_2 at $p, x_1, ..., x_n$ at $\phi(p)$ such that the map ϕ expressed in these coordinates takes the form

$$x_1 + ix_2 = z^m + \vartheta(z)$$

$$x_k = \chi_k(z), \qquad \qquad k = 3, ..., n,$$

where

$$\vartheta(z), \chi_k(z) = o(|z|^m),$$

$$\frac{\partial \vartheta}{\partial u_j}(z), \frac{\partial \chi_k}{\partial u_j}(z) = o(|z|^{m-1}) \quad j = 1, 2$$

More precisely, p is then called a branch point of order m-1.

Definition 7. A map ϕ from an oriented surface M into a manifold N (of dimension ≥ 2) is a branched immersion if and only if it is an immersion except at branch points i.e. where the differential $d\phi$ vanishes and locally it is given by Definition 6.

Notice that the set of branch points is a discrete set.

Proposition 5. (see for example [Gau]) A non-constant conformal harmonic map from a Riemann surface into a Riemannian manifold is a branched immersion.

Moreover proposition 4 extends to branched immersions. Indeed let ϕ be a branched minimal immersion. We know that $\tau(\phi) = 0$ at regular points. If $d\phi(x) = 0$, then ϕ is a branch point and x is the limit point of regular points, in which case $\tau(\phi)_x = 0$ by continuity.

Hence ϕ is harmonic if and only if $\tau(\phi)$ is zero at regular points, and this holds if and only if ϕ is minimal at regular points.

Going back to definition 6, we see that, in a neighborhood of a branch point

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial u_1} \wedge \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial u_2} = m^2 |z|^{2(m-1)} e_1 \wedge e_2 + o(|z|^{2(m-1)})$$
(1.21)

(where $e_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, i = 1, \dots, n$). Thus we can define an oriented 2-plane bundle $T\phi$ on M by setting for a point $z \in M$:

i) if z is a regular point of ϕ : $(T\phi)_z := d\phi(T_z M)$,

ii) if z is a branch point $(T\phi)_z$ is the oriented plane generated by $e_1 \wedge e_2$ as in equation (1.21).

We call it the image tangent bundle of ϕ and denote it $T\phi$.

At a singular point of ϕ , the branching order of this point is the index at this point of the homomorphism $d\phi$ of $T\Sigma$ in $T\phi$.

1.2.5 Harmonic morphisms

Proposition 6. The second fundamental form of the composition of two maps $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ and $\psi : N \longrightarrow P$ is given by

$$\nabla d(\psi \circ \phi) = d\psi(\nabla d\phi) + \nabla d\psi(d\phi, d\phi). \tag{1.22}$$

Corollary 1. (Composition law) The tension field of the composition of two maps ϕ : $M \longrightarrow N \text{ and } \psi : N \longrightarrow P \text{ is given by}$

$$\tau(\psi \circ \phi) = d\psi(\tau(\phi)) + Tr\nabla d\psi(d\phi, d\phi).$$
(1.23)

Here $Tr\nabla d\psi(d\phi, d\phi) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nabla d\psi(d\phi(e_i), d\phi(e_i))$, where $\{e_i\}$ is an orthonormal frame.

Lemma 1. Let M=(M,g) and N=(N,h) be Riemannian manifolds. A harmonic horizontally weakly conformal map $\phi: M \longrightarrow N$ is a harmonic morphism.

Proof. Let f be a harmonic function on an open subset of N. The composition law (Corollary 1) yields

$$\tau(f \circ \phi) = df(\tau(\phi)) + Tr\nabla df(d\phi, d\phi).$$
(1.24)

As ϕ is harmonic, the first term vanishes. Let (e_i) be orthonormal basis on M consisting of vertical and horizontal vectors. If e_i is a vertical vector then $d\phi(e_i) = 0$. For the horizontal vectors e_i , $(d\phi(e_i))$ is an orthogonal basis of TN consisting of vectors of the same norm. Then

$$\tau(f \circ \phi) = \lambda^2 \, Tr \nabla df = \lambda^2 \tau(f). \tag{1.25}$$

It follows that, if f is harmonic, so is $f \circ \phi$. Hence ϕ is harmonic morphism.

Theorem 2. (Characterization; [Fu], [Is]) A smooth map $\phi : M \longrightarrow N$ between Rienmannian manifolds is a harmonic morphism if and only if ϕ is both harmonic and horizontally weakly conformal.

1.2.6 The mean curvature of the fibres

We now relate the tension field of a horizontally conformal submersion to the mean curvature of its fibres and the horizontal gradient of its dilation.

Proposition 7. (Fundamental equation) Let $\phi : M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be a smooth horizontally conformal submersion between Riemannian manifolds of dimensions $m, n \ge 1$. Let $\lambda : M \longrightarrow (0, \infty)$ denote the dilation of ϕ . Then the tension field of ϕ is given by

$$\tau(\phi) = -(n-2)d\phi(grad \ln\lambda) - (m-n)d\phi(\mu^{\nu}) \tag{1.26}$$

We shall call (1.26) the fundamental equation (for the tension field of a horizontally conformal submersion).

Theorem 3. (Baird and Eells 1981) Let $\phi : M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be a smooth non-constant horizontally weakly conformal map between Riemannian manifolds of dimensions $m, n \ge$ 1. Then ϕ is harmonic, and so a harmonic morphism, if and only if, at every regular point, the mean curvature vector field μ^{ν} of the fibres and the gradient of the dilation λ of ϕ are related by

$$(n-2)\mathfrak{H}(grad\ ln\lambda) + (m-n)\mu^{\nu} = 0, \tag{1.27}$$

where \mathfrak{H} is the horizontal component on the horizontal space.

In particular, if n=2, then ϕ is harmonic, and so a harmonic morphism, if and only if, at every regular point, the fibres of ϕ are minimal.

Chapter 2

On harmonic morphisms from 4-manifolds to Riemann surfaces and local almost Hermitian structures

We investigate the structure of a harmonic morphism F from a Riemannian 4-manifold M^4 to a 2-surface N^2 near a critical point m_0 . If m_0 is an isolated critical point or if M^4 is compact without boundary, we show that F is pseudo-holomorphic w.r.t. an almost Hermitian structure defined in a neighbourhood of m_0 .

If M^4 is compact without boundary, the singular fibres of F are branched minimal surfaces.

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Background

A harmonic morphism $F: M \longrightarrow N$ between two Riemannian manifolds (M, g) and (N, h) is a map which pulls back local harmonic functions on N to local harmonic functions on M. Although harmonic morphisms can be traced back to Jacobi, their study in modern times was initiated by Fuglede and Ishihara who characterized them using the notion of horizontal weak conformality, or semiconformality:

Definition 8. (see [B-W] p.46) Let $F : (M,g) \longrightarrow (N,h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds and let $x \in M$. Then F is called horizontally weakly conformal at x if either

1) $dF_x = 0$

2) dF_x maps the space $Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}$ conformally onto $T_{F(x)}N$, i.e. there exists a number $\lambda(x)$ called the dilation of F at x such that

$$\forall X, Y \in Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}, h(dF_x(X), dF_x(X)) = \lambda^2(x)g(X, Y).$$

The space $Ker(dF_x)$ (resp. $Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}$) is called the vertical (resp. horizontal) space at x.

2.1. INTRODUCTION

Fuglede and Ishihara proved independently

Theorem 4. ([Fu],[Is]) Let $F : (M,g) \longrightarrow (N,h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds. The following two statements are equivalent: 1) For every harmonic function $f : V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ defined on an open set V of N, the function $f \circ F$ defined on the open set $F^{-1}(V)$ of M is harmonic. 2) The map F is harmonic and horizontally weakly conformal.

Such a map is called a harmonic morphism.

When the target is 2-dimensional, Baird and Eells proved

Theorem 5. ([B-E]) Let $F : (M^m, g) \longrightarrow (N^2, h)$ be a smooth nonconstant horizontally weakly conformal map between a Riemannian manifold (M^m, g) and a Riemannian 2-surface (N^2, h) . Then F is harmonic (hence a harmonic morphism) if and only if the fibres of F at regular points are minimal submanifolds of M.

It follows from Th.5 that holomorphic maps from a Kähler manifold to a Riemann surface are harmonic morphisms; this raises the question of the interaction between harmonic morphisms to surfaces and holomorphic maps. John Wood studied harmonic morphisms $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ from an Einstein 4-manifold M^4 to a Riemann surface N^2 and exhibited an *integrable* Hermitian structure J on the regular points of F w.r.t. which F is holomorphic ([Wo]). He extended J to some of the critical points of F and the M. Ville extended it to all critical points ([Vi1]).

By contrast, Burel constructed many harmonic morphisms from \mathbb{S}^4 to \mathbb{S}^2 , for non-canonical metrics on \mathbb{S}^4 ([Bu]); he was building upon previous constructions on product of spheres by Baird and Ou ([B-O]). Yet it is well-known that \mathbb{S}^4 does not admit any global almost complex structure (see for example [St] p.217).

2.1.2 The results

In the present paper, we continue along the lines of [Wo] and [Vi1] and investigate the case of a harmonic morphism $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ from a general Riemannian 4-manifold M^4 to a 2-surface N^2 . In [Wo] the integrability of J follows from the Einstein condition so we cannot expect to derive an integrable Hermitian structure in the general case. Could F be pseudo-holomorphic w.r.t. some *almost* Hermitian structure J on M^4 ? Burel's example on \mathbb{S}^4 tells us that we cannot in general expect J to be defined on all of M^4 : the most we can expect is for F to be pseudo-holomorphic w.r.t. a local almost Hermitian structure. We feel that this should be true in general; however, we only are able to prove it in two cases:

Theorem 6. Let (M^4, g) be a Riemannian 4-manifold, let (N^2, h) be a Riemannian 2surface and let $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ be a harmonic morphism. Consider a critical point m_0 in M^4 and assume that one of the following assertions is true 1) m_0 is an isolated critical point of FOR

2) (M^4, g) is compact without boundary (and m_0 need not be isolated). Then there exists an almost Hermitian structure J defined in a neighbourhood of m_0 w.r.t. which F is pseudo-holomorphic. NB. The pseudo-holomorphicity of F means: if $m \in M^4$ and $X \in T_m M^4$,

$$dF(JX) = j \circ dF(X)$$

where j denotes the complex structure on N^2 .

Th.6 enables us to use the work of [McD] and [M-W] on pseudo-holomorphic curves to study singularities: the local topology of a singularity of a fibre of F is the same as the local topology of a singular complex curve in \mathbb{C}^2 .

We derive from the proof of Th. 6

Corollary 2. Let $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ be a harmonic morphism from a compact Riemannian 4-manifold without boundary to a Riemann surface and let u_0 be a singular value of F. Then the preimage $F^{-1}(u_0)$ is a (possibly branched) minimal surface.

If the manifold M^4 is Einstein, the Hermitian structure constructed by Wood is parallel on the fibres of the harmonic morphism and has a fixed orientation. In the general case, around regular points of F, there are two local almost Hermitian structures making Fpseudo-holomorphic; they have opposite orientations and we denote them J_+ and J_- . We follow Wood's computation without assuming M^4 to be Einstein and get a bound on the product of the $\|\nabla J_{\pm}\|$'s (we had hoped for a local bound on one of the $\|\nabla J_{\pm}\|$'s):

Proposition 8. Let (M^4, g) be a Riemannian 4-manifold, let (N^2, h) be a Riemannian 2-surface and let $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ be a harmonic morphism. We denote by j the complex structure on N^2 compatible with the metric and orientation. For a regular point m of F, we let J_+ (resp. J_-) be the almost complex structure on M^4 such that $i) J_+$ and J_- preserve the metric q

ii) J_+ (resp. J_-) preserves (resp. reverses) the orientation on $T_m M^4$

iii) the map $dF: (T_m M^4, J_{\pm}) \longrightarrow (N^2, j)$ is complex-linear.

Let K be a compact subset of M^4 : there exists a constant A such that, for every regular point m of M^4 in K and every unit vertical tangent vector T at m,

$$\|\nabla_T J_+\|\|\nabla_T J_-\| \leqslant A$$

where ∇ denotes the connection induced by the Levi-Civita connection on M^4 .

2.1.3 Sketch of the paper

In §2.2, we recall that the lowest order term of the Taylor development at a critical point of F is a homogeneous holomorphic polynomial; we use it to control one of the two local pseudo-Hermitian structures for which F is pseudo-holomorphic at regular points close to m_0 . We express this in the Main Lemma (§2.2.3) and the first case of Th.6 follows almost immediately (§2.3).

In §2.4 we prove second case of Th. 6 using the twistor constructions of Eells and Salamon ([Ee-Sal]): the twistor space $Z(M^4)$ is a 2-sphere bundle above M^4 endowed with an almost complex structure \mathcal{J} and the regular fibres of F lift to \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curves in $Z(M^4)$. The assumptions of the second case of Th. 6 enable us to prove that these curves have bounded area so we can use Gromov's compacity theorem: as we approach m_0 , the lifts of the regular fibres of F in each of the two twistor spaces of M^4 converge to a \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curve. The Main Lemma 2.2 enables us to pick one of the two orientations so that the limit curve has no vertical component near m_0 : near m_0 , it is the lift of the fibre of F containing m_0 . This is the key point in the proof of Th. 6 2).

In \$2.5, we prove Prop 8 using an identity which Wood established to prove the superminimality of the fibres in the Einstein case.

For background and detailed information about harmonic morphisms, we refer the reader to [B-W].

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Martin Svensson for helpful conversation, Marc Soret for useful comments on previous drafts, Paul Baird and John Wood for answering a crucial question at a crucial moment.

2.2 The main lemma

2.2.1 The almost complex structure at regular points

A REMARK ABOUT THE NOTATION. If m is a point in M^4 , we denote by |m| the distance of m to m_0 . We introduce several constants, which we number $C_1, \ldots, C_{10}, \ldots$; they all have the same goal which is to say that one quantity or another is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$, so the reader in a hurry can ignore the indices and think of a single constant C.

Let m be a regular point of F in M^4 ; as we mentioned above in Def.8, the tangent space of M^4 at a regular point m of F splits as follows:

$$T_m M^4 = V_m \oplus H_m \tag{2.1}$$

where the vertical space V_m is the space tangent at m to the fibre $F^{-1}(F(m))$ and the horizontal space H_m is the orthogonal complement of V_m in $T_m M^4$.

2.2.2 The symbol and its extension in a neighbourhood of a critical point

We use the notations of Th.6 and we let m_0 be a critical point of F. We denote by k, k > 1, the order of F at m_0 ; namely, if (x_i) is a coordinate system centered at m_0 , m_0 being identified with (0, ..., 0), we have

1) for every multi-index $I = \{i_1, ..., i_4\}$ with $|I| \leq k - 1$, $|I| = \sum_{j=1}^4 i_j \leq k - 1$,

$$\frac{\partial^{|I|}F}{\partial^{i_1}x_1\dots\partial^{i_4}x_4}(0,...,0) = 0$$

2) there exists a multi-index $J = \{j_1, ..., j_4\}$ with |J| = k such that

$$\frac{\partial^k F}{\partial^{j_1} x_1 \dots \partial^{j_4} x_4}(0, \dots, 0) \neq 0$$

The lowest order term of the Taylor development of F at m_0 is a homogeneous polynomial

$$P_0: T_{m_0}M^4 \longrightarrow T_{F(m_0)}N^2$$

of degree k called the symbol of F at m_0 . Fuglede showed ([Fu]) that P_0 is a harmonic morphism between $T_{m_0}M^4$ and $T_{F(m_0)}N^2$; it follows from [Wo] that P is a holomorphic polynomial of degree k for some orthogonal complex structure J_0 on $T_{m_0}M^4$.

REMARK. The complex structure J_0 is not always uniquely defined as the following two examples illustrate:

1) $P_0(z_1, z_2) = z_1 z_2$: J_0 is uniquely defined

2) $P_0(z_1, z_2) = z_1^2$: there are two possible J_0 's with opposite orientations.

2.2.3 The main lemma

We identify a neighbourhood U of m_0 with a ball in \mathbb{R}^4 , the point m_0 being identified with the origin and we let (x_i) be a system of normal coordinates in U. We pick these coordinates so that, at the point m_0 , we have

$$J_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \qquad J_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_4} \tag{2.2}$$

We extend J_0 in U by requiring (2.2) to be verified for all points in U. Of course J_0 does not necessarily preserve the metric outside of m_0 , nevertheless there exists a constant C_2 such that, for a vector X tangent at a point m

$$| < J_0 X, J_0 X > - < X, X > | \le C_2 |m|^2 ||X||^2 \quad | < J_0 X, X > | \le C_2 |m|^2 ||X||^2 \quad (2.3)$$

We identify a neighbourhood of $F(m_0)$ with a disk in \mathbb{C} centered at the origin, with $F(m_0)$ identified with 0. We also extend P_0 in U by setting

 $P: U \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$

$$P(x_1, ..., x_4) = P_0(x_1 + ix_2, x_3 + ix_4).$$

It is clear that for $m \in U$ and i = 1, ..., 4

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial x_i}(m) = \frac{\partial P_0}{\partial x_i}(x(m))$$

hence P is J_0 -holomorphic.

Main Lemma 1. Let M^4 be a Riemannian 4-manifold, N^2 a Riemannian 2-surface and $F: M^4 \longrightarrow N^2$ a harmonic morphism. We consider a critical point m_0 of F which we do not assume isolated. We denote by P_0 the symbol of F at m_0 , assumed to be holomorphic for a parallel Hermitian complex structure J_0 on $T_{m_0}M^4$ and we extend J_0 to a neighbourhood

2.2. THE MAIN LEMMA

of m_0 as explained above.

In a neighbourhood U of m_0 , there exists an almost Hermitian structure J continuously defined on the regular points of F in U such that

1) J has the same orientation as J_0

2) F is pseudo-holomorphic w.r.t. J.

Moreover, for a point m in U

$$|J(m) - J_0(m)| \leqslant C_3|m|$$

for some positive constant C_3 independent of m.

Proof. We let $\Psi = F - P$. By definition of the symbol of F, there exist C_4, C_5 such that

$$\forall m \in U, \forall X \in T_m M |\Psi(m)| \leqslant C_4 |m|^{k+1}, \quad |d\Psi(m)(X)| \leqslant C_5 |m|^k ||X||$$
(2.4)

We let (ϵ_1, ϵ_2) be a local positive orthonormal basis of N^2 in a neighbourhood of $u_0 := F(m_0)$. Denoting by j the complex structure on N^2 , we have

$$\epsilon_2 = j\epsilon_1 \tag{2.5}$$

If m is a regular point of F, we define two unit orthogonal vectors e_1, e_2 in H_m such that

$$dF(e_1) = \lambda(m)\epsilon_1 \quad dF(e_2) = \lambda(m)\epsilon_2 \tag{2.6}$$

where $\lambda(m)$ denotes the dilation of F at m (see Def.8 and [B-W] pp. 46-47). Next we pick an orthonormal basis (e_3, e_4) of V_m in a way that (e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4) is of the orientation defined by J_0 . We define the almost complex structure J by setting

$$Je_1 = e_2 \quad Je_3 = e_4 \tag{2.7}$$

We first show that J_0e_1 is close to e_2 ; we set

$$J_0 e_1 = a e_1 + b e_2 + v \tag{2.8}$$

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and $v \in V_m$. Since $a = \langle J_0 e_1, e_1 \rangle$, we get from (2.3)

$$|a| \leqslant C_2 |m|^2 \tag{2.9}$$

Next we compute $dF(J_0e_1)$:

$$dF(J_0e_1) = dP(J_0e_1) + d\Psi(J_0e_1) = jdP(e_1) + d\Psi(J_0e_1)$$

= $jdF(e_1) - jd\Psi(e_1) + d\Psi(J_0e_1)$ (2.10)

On the other hand, it follows from (2.8) that

$$dF(J_0e_1) = adF(e_1) + bdF(e_2) = adF(e_1) + jbdF(e_1)$$
(2.11)

by definition of e_1 and e_2 (see (2.6)). Putting (2.10) and (2.11) together, we get

$$j(1-b)dF(e_1) = adF(e_1) + jd\Psi(e_1) - d\Psi(J_0e_1)$$

and using (2.6), we derive

$$|1 - b|\lambda(m) = |adF(e_1) + jd\Psi(e_1) - d\Psi(J_0e_1)|$$
(2.12)

We already know that the right-hand side of (2.12) is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|^k)$; in order to show that |1-b| is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$, we need to bound $\lambda(m)$ below.

Lemma 2. There exists a $C_6 > 0$ such that, for m small enough,

$$\lambda(m) \geqslant C_6 |m|^{k-1}$$

Proof. First we notice that

$$\lambda(m) = \sup_{X \in T_m M^4, \|X\| = 1} \|dF(m)X\|$$
(2.13)

Indeed, take a vector $X \in T_m M$ with ||X|| = 1. We split it into $X = X_v + X_h$ with X_v vertical and X_h horizontal. Then $||X_v||^2 + ||X_h||^2 = 1$ and

$$||dF(m)X|| = ||dF(m)X_h|| = \lambda(m)||X_h|| \leq \lambda(m).$$

Since P_0 is of degree k, there exists C_7 such that for m small enough

$$\sup_{X \in T_m M^4, \|X\|=1} \|dP(m)X\| \ge C_7 |m|^{k-1}.$$

It follows that, for $m \in U$ and $X \in T_m M^4$ with ||X|| = 1, we have

$$||dF(m)X|| = ||dP(m)X + d\Psi(m)X|| \ge ||dP(m)X|| - ||d\Psi(m)X||$$
$$\ge C_7 |m|^{k-1} - C_5 |m|^k$$

We take m small enough so that $C_5|m| \leq \frac{C_7}{2}$ and the lemma follows by taking $C_6 = \frac{C_7}{2}$. \Box

It follows from (2.12) and from Lemma 2 that

$$|b-1| \leqslant C_9 |m| \tag{2.14}$$

for m small enough and some constant C_9 .

To estimate ||v||, we use (2.3) to write for m small enough

$$|||J_0e_1||^2 - 1| = |a^2 + b^2 + ||v||^2 - 1| \le C_2|m|^2$$
(2.15)

Hence

$$||v||^2 \leq C_2 |m|^2 + a^2 + |b^2 - 1|$$

and it follows from (2.9) and (2.14) that

$$\|v\| \leqslant C_{11}|m| \tag{2.16}$$

for some positive constant C_{11} . We can now conclude. Since

$$||Je_1 - J_0e_1|| = ||e_2 - J_0e_1|| \le |a| + |b-1| + ||v||$$

 $||Je_1 - J_0e_1||$ is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$; similarly for $||Je_2 - J_0e_2||$.

We now prove that $||Je_3 - J_0e_3||$ is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$: there are no new ideas so we skip the details. We write

$$J_0 e_3 = \alpha e_1 + \beta e_2 + \gamma e_3 + \delta e_4$$

Since (e_i) is an orthonormal basis,

$$|\alpha| = |\langle J_0 e_3, e_1 \rangle| \leq |\langle J_0 e_1, e_3 \rangle| + C_2 |m|^2$$

using (2.3); it follows from the estimates above for J_0e_1 that α (and for the same reason β) is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$.

We also derive from (2.3) that

$$|\gamma| = |\langle J_0 e_3, e_3 \rangle| \leq C_2 |m|^2$$

Now that we know that α, β and γ are $\mathcal{O}(|m|^2)$'s, we focus on δ and derive from (2.3)

$$|\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} + \gamma^{2} + \delta^{2} - 1| = |||J_{0}e_{3}||^{2} - 1| \leq C_{2}|m|^{2}$$

It follows that $|\delta^2 - 1|$ is an $\mathcal{O}(|m|^2)$, hence δ is either close to 1 or to -1: let us prove that δ is positive, using orientation arguments.

In a neighbourhood of m, we identify $\Lambda^4(M)$ with \mathbb{R} so we can talk of signs of 4-vectors. If we denote by \star the Hodge star operator, the sign of $e_1 \wedge J_0 e_1 \wedge \star (e_1 \wedge J_0 e_1)$ gives us the orientation of J_0 hence, by our assumption, it is of the same sign as $e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge e_3 \wedge e_4$. We have seen that, close to m, $J_0 e_1$ is close to e_2 , hence $e_1 \wedge J_0 e_1 \wedge \star (e_1 \wedge J_0 e_1)$ and $e_1 \wedge J_0 e_1 \wedge e_3 \wedge J_0 e_3$ have the same sign; this latter 4-vector has the same sign as $\delta e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge e_3 \wedge e_4$. It follows that δ is positive.

Hence $||J_0e_3 - Je_3||$ is a $\mathcal{O}(|m|)$ and so is $||J_0e_4 - Je_4||$, by identical arguments; this concludes the proof of the Main Lemma.

2.3 Proof of Th.6 1): an isolated critical point

If m_0 is an isolated critical point, the almost complex structure J given by the Main Lemma is defined in $U \setminus \{m_0\}$ where U is a neighbourhood of m_0 . At the point m_0 , we put $J(m_0) = J_0$ and the Main Lemma tells us that the resulting almost complex structure is continuous.

2.4 Proof of Th.6 2):*M* is compact without boundary

2.4.1 Background: twistor spaces

We give here a brief sketch of Eells-Salamon's work with twistors ([Ee-Sal]); the reader can find a more detailed exposition in Chap. 7 of [B-W].

The twistor space $Z^+(M^4)$ (resp. $Z^-(M^4)$) of an oriented Riemannian 4-manifold (M^4, g) is the 2-sphere bundle defined as follows: a point in $Z^+(M^4)$ (resp. $Z^-(M^4)$) is of the form (J_0, m_0) where m_0 is a point in M^4 and J_0 is an orthogonal complex structure on $T_{m_0}M^4$ which preserves (resp. reverses) the orientation on $T_{m_0}M^4$. The twistor spaces $Z^{\pm}(M^4)$ admit the following almost complex structures \mathcal{J}_{\pm} .

We split the tangent space $T_{(J_0,m_0)}Z^{\pm}(M^4)$ into a horizontal space $\mathcal{H}_{(J_0,m_0)}$ and a vertical space $\mathcal{V}_{(J_0,m_0)}$. Since $\mathcal{H}_{(J_0,m_0)}$ is naturally identified with $T_{m_0}M^4$, we define \mathcal{J}_{\pm} on $\mathcal{H}_{(J_0,m_0)}$ as the pull-back of J_0 from $T_{m_0}M^4$; the fibre above m_0 is an oriented 2-sphere so we define \mathcal{J}_{\pm} on $\mathcal{V}_{(J_0,m_0)}$ as the opposite of the canonical complex structure on this 2-sphere. If S is an oriented 2-surface in M^4 , it has a natural lift inside the twistor spaces: a point p in S lifts to the point (J_p, p) in $Z^+(M^4)$ (resp. $Z^-(M^4)$), where J_p is the orthogonal complex structure on T_pM^4 which preserves (resp. reverses) the orientation and for which the oriented plane T_pS is an oriented complex line.

Jim Eells and Simon Salamon proved

Theorem 7. ([Ee-Sal]) Let (M^4, g) be a Riemannian 4-manifold. A minimal surface in M^4 lifts into a \mathcal{J}_+ -holomorphic (resp. \mathcal{J}_- -holomorphic) curve in $Z^+(M^4)$ (resp. $Z^-(M^4)$). Conversely, every non vertical \mathcal{J}_{\pm} -holomorphic curve in $Z^{\pm}(M^4)$ is the lift of a minimal surface in M^4 .

2.4.2 Convergence of the twistor lifts of regular fibres

We assume M^4 to be oriented: Th.6 is local so if M^4 is not oriented, we endow a ball centered at m_0 with an orientation given by the complex structure J_0 on $T_{m_0}M^4$ defined by the symbol (see §2.2.2). From now on we drop the superscript + and we write $Z(M^4)$ for $Z^+(M^4)$.

We denote $u_0 = F(m_0)$ and we let (u_n) be a sequence of regular values of F which converges to u_0 . The preimages of the u_n 's are smooth compact closed 2-submanifolds of M^4 . For every positive integer n, we let

$$S_n = F^{-1}(u_n).$$

Lemma 3. The S_n 's all have the same area.

Proof. The singular values of F are discrete so we can assume that the S_n 's are all deformation of one another; moreover they are all minimal. It follows from the formula for the first variation of area that if (Σ_t) , $t \in [0, 1]$, is a family of minimal surfaces without boundary in a compact manifold, $\frac{d}{dt}area(\Sigma_t) = 0$, hence $area(\Sigma_t)$ is constant, for $t \in [0, 1]$. \Box

We denote by \tilde{S}_n the lift of S_n into $Z^+(M^4)$: Th. 7 tells us that they are \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curves. Moreover we have

Lemma 4. There exists a constant C such that, for every positive integer n,

$$area(\tilde{S}_n) \leqslant C.$$

Proof. We parametrize the \tilde{S}_n 's by maps

$$\gamma_n: S_n \longrightarrow \tilde{S}_n$$

We let (e_1, e_2) be an orthonormal basis of the tangent bundle TS_n and we denote by \tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_2 their lift in $Z(M^4)$. For i = 1, 2, we split \tilde{e}_i into vertical and horizontal components,

$$\tilde{e}_i = \tilde{e}_i^h + \tilde{e}_i^v$$

We write the area element of \tilde{S}_n :

$$\|\tilde{e}_1 \wedge \tilde{e}_2\| \leqslant \|\tilde{e}_1^h \wedge \tilde{e}_2^h\| + \|\tilde{e}_1^h \wedge \tilde{e}_2^v\| + \|\tilde{e}_1^v \wedge \tilde{e}_2^h\| + \|\tilde{e}_1^v \wedge \tilde{e}_2^v\|$$
(2.17)

Integrating (2.17) and using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get

$$area(\tilde{S}_n) \leqslant area(S_n) + 2\sqrt{area(S_n)}\sqrt{\int_{S_n} \|\nabla\gamma_n\|^2} + \int_{S_n} \|\nabla\gamma_n\|^2$$

where ∇ denote the connection on $Z(M^4)$ induced by the Levi-Civita connection on M^4 .

Lemma 5. There exists a constant A such that, for every positive n

$$\int_{S_n} \|\nabla \gamma_n\|^2 \leqslant A$$

Proof. We need to introduce a few notations to give a formula for the integral in Lemma 5. For every n, we let NS_n be the normal bundle of S_n in M^4 and we endow it with a local orthonormal basis (e_3, e_4) . We denote by R the curvature tensor of (M^4, g) and we put

$$\Omega^T = < R(e_1, e_2)e_1, e_2 > \qquad \qquad \Omega^N = < R(e_1, e_2)e_3, e_4 >$$

Finally we let $c_1(NS_n)$ be the degree of NS_n i.e. the integral of its 1st Chern class; it changes sign with the orientation of M^4 . Note that other authors (e.g. [C-T]) denote it by $\chi(NS_n)$, by analogy with the Euler characteristic.

We denote by dA the area element of S_n and we derive from [C-T] (see also [Vi 2])

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{S_n} \|\nabla \gamma_n\|^2 = -\chi(S_n) - c_1(NS_n) + \int_{S_n} \Omega^T dA + \int_{S_n} \Omega^N dA$$
(2.18)

The critical values of F are isolated, hence the regular fibres all have the same homotopy type and the same homology class $[S_n]$ in $H_2(M^4, \mathbb{Z})$. In particular, $|\chi(S_n)|$ does not depend on n. The S_n 's are embedded hence $c_1(NS_n)$ is equal to the self-intersection number $[S_n].[S_n]$ which does not depend on n either.

Since M^4 is compact, the expression $| \langle R(u, v)w, t \rangle |$ has an upper bound for all the 4-uples of unit vectors (u, v, w, t). It follows that the integrals in Ω^T and Ω^N in (2.18) have a common bound in absolute value.

In conclusion, all the terms in the RHS of (2.18) are bounded in absolute value uniformely in n.

Lemma 4 follows immediately.

Thus the \tilde{S}_n 's are \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curves of bounded area in $Z(M^4)$: Gromov's result ([Gro]) ensures that they admit a subsequence which converges in the sense of cusp-curves to a \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curve C.

Lemma 6. We denote by $\pi: Z(M^4) \longrightarrow M^4$ the natural projection. Then

$$\pi(C) = F^{-1}(u_0).$$

Proof. The map $\pi \circ F$ is continuous, so it is clear that $\pi(C) \subset F^{-1}(u_0)$. To prove the reverse inclusion, we take a point $p \in F^{-1}(u_0)$ and we claim

Claim 1. There exists a subsequence $(u_{s(n)})$ of (u_n) and a sequence of points (p_n) of M^4 converging to p with

$$F(p_n) = u_{s(n)}$$

for every positive integer n.

Indeed, if Claim 1 was not true, we would have the following

Claim 2. $\exists \epsilon > 0$ such that $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\forall m \in M^4$ with $F(m) = u_n$, we have

$$d(m,p) > \epsilon.$$

If Claim 2 was true, the set $F(B(p,\epsilon))$ would contain u_0 but would not be a neighbourhood of u_0 , a contradiction of the fact that a harmonic morphism is open ([Fu],[B-W] p.112).

So Claim 1 is true: if we denote by (J_n, p_n) the pullback of the p_n 's in the twistor lifts \hat{S}_n , they admit a subsequence which converges to a point (\hat{J}, p) , for some \hat{J} in the twistor fibre above p. Clearly (\hat{J}, p) belongs to C, hence p belongs to $\pi(C)$ and Lemma 6 is proved. \Box

Their are a finite number of points $p_1, ..., p_k \in M^4$ and positive integers $q_1, ..., q_k$ such that the curve C can be written

$$C = \Gamma + \sum_{i=1}^{k} q_i Z_{p_i} \tag{2.19}$$

where Γ is a \mathcal{J} -holomorphic curve with no vertical components and the Z_{p_i} 's are the twistor fibres above the p_i 's. It follows from Lemma 6 that

$$\pi(\Gamma) = F^{-1}(u_0).$$

We derive that $F^{-1}(u_0)$ is a minimal surface possibly with branched points and having Γ as its twistor lift.

Note that the presence of twistor fibres in (2.19) is to be expected: when a sequence of smooth minimal surfaces converges to a minimal surface with singularities, its twistor lifts can experience bubbling off of twistor fibres above singular points (see [Vi2] for a more detailed discussion of this phenomenon). However, in the present case, the Main Lemma excludes such bubbling-off in a neighbourhood of m_0 :

Lemma 7. There exists an $\epsilon > 0$ such that, if p_i is one of the points appearing in (2.19),

 $dist(m_0, p_i) > \epsilon$

Proof. Since the p_i 's are finite in number, it is enough to prove that m_0 is not one of them. The almost complex structure J_0 appearing in the Main Lemma does not necessarily preserve the metric outside of m_0 ; so we introduce the bundle C of all the complex structures on TM^4 which preserve the orientation. It contains the bundle $Z(M^4)$ and embeds into the bundle $GL(TM^4)$. We denote by d_C the distance on C induced by the metric on $GL(TM^4)$ and by d_{M^4} the distance in M^4 and we prove :

Lemma 8. $\forall \epsilon > 0 \quad \exists \eta > 0 \quad such that$

$$d_{M^4}(m, m_0) < \eta \Rightarrow d_{\mathcal{C}}[(J(m), m), (J_0, m_0)] < \epsilon$$

Proof. $d_{\mathcal{C}}[(J(m), m), (J_0, m_0)]$

$$\leq d_{\mathcal{C}}[(J(m), m), (J_0(m), m)] + d_{\mathcal{C}}[(J_0(m), m), (J_0, m_0)]$$
(2.20)

We bound the first term in (2.20) using the Main Lemma; the second term is bounded because $J_0: U \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}$ is continuous.

If m is a regular point of F, we denote by $\gamma(m)$ the point above m in the twistor lift of $F^{-1}(F(m))$; in the Main Lemma, we defined the almost complex structure J(m). The tangent plane to the fibre at m is a complex line for both $\gamma(m)$ and J(m); since $\gamma(m)$ and J(m) both preserve the orientation, it follows that $\gamma(m) = \pm J(m)$. We can get rid of the \pm by a connectivity argument and derive an $s \in \{-1, +1\}$ such that for every regular point m of F near m_0 ,

$$\gamma(m) = sJ(m) \tag{2.21}$$

We rewrite Lemma 8: $\forall \epsilon > 0 \quad \exists \eta > 0$ such that for a regular point m,

$$d_M(m, m_0) < \eta \Rightarrow d_{\mathcal{C}}[(\gamma(m), m), (sJ_0, m_0)] < \epsilon$$

$$(2.22)$$

If the whole twistor fibre $Z_{m_0}M^4$ was included in C, it would be in the closure of the union of the twistor lifts of the regular fibres of F in a neighbourhood of m_0 : we see from (2.22) that this is impossible. This concludes the proof of Lemma 7.

2.4.3 Construction of the almost complex structure

We now construct a local section of $Z(M^4)$, for which F is holomorphic. As in [Vi1], we work first on the space $\mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$ obtained by taking the quotient of each twistor fibre by its antipody; if J is an element of $Z(M^4)$, we denote by \bar{J} its image in $\mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$. If m is a regular point of F, there are 2 complex structures, J_1 and J_2 , on $T_{m_0}M^4$ for which the unoriented planes V_m and H_m are complex lines. These two complex structures verify $J_1 = -J_2$, hence they define the same point, denoted $\bar{J}(m)$, in $\mathbb{P}(Z_m(M^4))$. To extend this section of $\mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$ above $F^{-1}(u_0)$, we state **Lemma 9.** There exists an $\epsilon > 0$ such that every $m \in B(m_0, \epsilon) \cap F^{-1}(u_0)$ has either a single preimage in Γ or exactly two antipodal preimages in Γ .

Proof. We let ϵ be a number satisfying Lemma 7 and we pick $m \in B(m_0, \epsilon) \cap F^{-1}(u_0)$. Since, by definition, Γ has no vertical component it meets $Z_m(M^4)$ at a discrete number of points. Let us assume that J_1 and J_2 are two different elements of $\Gamma \cap Z_m(M^4)$. There exist two non vertical possibly branched disks Δ_1 and Δ_2 in Γ containing (J_1, m) and (J_2, m) respectively. Each one of the two Δ_i 's is the twistor lift of a (possibly branched) disk D_i of $F^{-1}(u_0)$. The disks D_1 and D_2 meet at m: if they have different tangent planes at m, this implies that m is a singular point of $F^{-1}(u_0)$. Since $F^{-1}(u_0)$ is a closed minimal surface, its singular points are discrete so we can make ϵ small enough so that there is no singular point in $F^{-1}(u_0) \cap B(m_0, \epsilon)$ except for possibly m_0 .

So we assume that m_0 is a singular point of $F^{-1}(u_0)$. Because the symbol is J_0 holomorphic, all planes tangent to m_0 at $F^{-1}(u_0)$ are J_0 -complex lines and it follows that $J_1 = -J_2 = \pm J_0$.

We denote by $\overline{\Gamma}$ the projection of Γ in $\mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$ and by \overline{J} the local section of $\overline{\Gamma}$ given by Lemma 9.

Lemma 10. There exists a small $\epsilon > 0$ such that the map

$$B(m_0, \epsilon) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$$
$$m \mapsto \bar{J}(m)$$

is continuous.

Proof. Since \overline{J} is continuous above $U \setminus F^{-1}(u_0)$, we consider a sequence of points (p_n) in M^4 converging to a p_0 with $F(p_0) = u_0$. It is enough to the consider two cases 1st case: all the $F(p_n)$'s are regular values

2nd case: for every $n, F(p_n) = u_0$.

If (p_n) is a general sequence, we extract subsequences of the form 1) or 2).

1st case - For every $n, v_n = F(p_n)$ is a regular value of F.

i) First assume that $u_n = v_n$ for every n. Since Γ is the limit of the twistor lifts of the $F^{-1}(u_n)$ the sequence $(\bar{J}(p_n), p_n)$ converges to a point (\bar{K}, p_0) in $\bar{\Gamma}$; Lemma 9 ensures that $\bar{K} = \bar{J}(p_0)$.

ii) In the general case, the v_n 's converge to u_0 so we can proceed with the v_n 's as we did with the u_n 's and derive that the twistor lifts of the $F^{-1}(v_n)$'s converge in the sense of Gromov to the twistor lift of $F^{-1}(u_0)$ and conclude as in i).

2nd case For every $n, F(p_n) = u_0$. We denote by $\bar{\pi}$ the natural projection from $\mathbb{P}(Z(M^4))$ to M^4 . Lemma 9 ensures that $\bar{\pi}$ restricts to a continuous bijection from $\bar{\Gamma} \cap \bar{\pi}^{-1}(\bar{B}(m_0, \frac{\epsilon}{2}))$ to $F^{-1}(u_0) \cap \bar{B}(m_0, \frac{\epsilon}{2})$; since these spaces are compact and Hausdorff, a continuous bijection between them is a homeomorphism (see for example [Han] p. 45). It follows that, if the p_n 's converge to p_0 , their preimages in $\bar{\Gamma}$ converge to the preimage of p_0 ; in other words, the $\bar{J}(p_n)$'s converge to $\bar{J}(p_0)$.

We conclude as in [Vi1]. We lift \overline{J} above the set of regular points by taking for J the one complex structure on $T_m M$ which renders dF holomorphic at that point - this

requirement defines it uniquely on the horizontal space H_m and since, the orientation of J is given, there is also a unique possibility for J on V_m . By the same argument as in [Vi1], this extends to the entire $B(m_0, \epsilon)$.

This concludes the proof of Th.6

2.5 Proof of Prop. 8

We begin by reproducing part of Wood's arguments ([Wo]).

We let m be a regular point of F and we denote by V_m (resp. H_m) the vertical (resp. horizontal) space at m. We let S_0V_m be the set of symmetric trace-free homomorphisms of V_m and we define the Weingarten map

$$A: H_m \longrightarrow S_0 V_m$$
$$X \mapsto (U \mapsto \nabla_U^V X)$$

where $\nabla_U^V X$ denotes the vertical projection of $\nabla_U X$.

At a regular point m, we denote by J_+ (resp. J_-) the Hermitian structure on $T_m M^4$ w.r.t. which $dF : T_m M^4 \longrightarrow T_{F(m)} N^2$ is \mathbb{C} -linear and which preserves (resp. reverses) the orientation on $T_m M^4$. If M^4 is Einstein, Wood proves in Prop. 3.2 that all horizontal vectors X verify

$${}^{t}A \circ A(J_{\pm}X) = J_{\pm}({}^{t}A \circ A)(X).$$

If M^4 is not Einstein, we follow his proof to derive the existence of C_{11} such that, for every unit horizontal vector X tangent to a regular point of F in K,

$$\|{}^{t}A \circ A(J_{\pm}X) - J_{\pm}({}^{t}A \circ A)(X)\| \leqslant C_{11}$$
(2.23)

We now put $T = e_1$ and we complete it into an orthonormal basis (e_1, e_2) of V_m ; we pick an orthonormal basis (e_3, e_4) of H_m such that the almost complex structures verify

$$e_2 = J_+ e_1 = -J_- e_1 \qquad e_4 = J_+ e_3 = J_- e_3 \tag{2.24}$$

We let E_1 and E_2 be the following elements of S_0V_m defined by their matrices in the base (e_1, e_2) .

$$E_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad E_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We write the matrix of A in the bases (e_3, e_4) and (E_1, E_2)

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$a = -\langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_3 \rangle \qquad b = -\langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_4 \rangle$$
(2.25)

$$c = -\langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_3 \rangle$$
 $d = -\langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_4 \rangle$ (2.26)

The homomorphisms J_+ and J_- coincide on the basis (e_3, e_4) (see (2.24)); we compute

$${}^{(t}A \circ A)J_{\pm} - J_{\pm}{}^{(t}A \circ A) = \begin{pmatrix} 2(ab+cd) & b^2 + d^2 - (a^2 + c^2) \\ b^2 + d^2 - (a^2 + c^2) & -2(ab+cd) \end{pmatrix}$$

and we derive from (2.23)

$$|ab + cd| \leq C_{11}$$
 $|b^2 + d^2 - (a^2 + c^2)| \leq C_{11}$ (2.27)

We take J to be J_+ or J_- and we write the Euclidean norm

$$\|\nabla_{e_1} J\|^2 = \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,4} \langle (\nabla_{e_1} J) e_i, e_j \rangle^2$$
(2.28)

$$= \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,4} (\langle \nabla_{e_1}(Je_i), e_j \rangle - \langle J\nabla_{e_1}e_i, e_j \rangle)^2$$
(2.29)

$$= \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,4} (\langle \nabla_{e_1}(Je_i), e_j \rangle + \langle \nabla_{e_1}e_i, Je_j \rangle)^2$$
(2.30)

It is enough to take e_i vertical and e_j horizontal in (2.30):

Lemma 11.
$$\|\nabla_{e_1} J\|^2 = 2 \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq 2\\3 \leq j \leq 4}} (\langle \nabla_{e_1} (Je_i), e_j \rangle + \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_i, Je_j \rangle)^2.$$

Proof. If e_i and e_j are both horizontal or both vertical, Prop. 2.5.16 i) of [B-W] yields

$$\langle \nabla_{e_1}(Je_i), e_j \rangle = \langle J\nabla_{e_1}e_i, e_j \rangle$$

$$(2.31)$$

Note that Baird-Wood's Prop. 2.5.16 is about horizontal vectors, but its proof works identically for vertical vectors.

Assume now that e_i is horizontal and e_j is vertical:

$$< \nabla_{e_1}(Je_i), e_j > + < \nabla_{e_1}e_i, Je_j > = - < Je_i, \nabla_{e_1}e_j > - < e_i, \nabla_{e_1}(Je_j) >$$
 (2.32)

Putting together (2.30), (2.31) and (2.32) completes the proof of Lemma 11.

We use the values given for the J_{\pm} in (2.24) to derive

$$\frac{1}{2} \|\nabla_{e_1} J_{\pm}\|^2 = (\pm \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_3 \rangle + \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_4 \rangle)^2 + (\pm \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_4 \rangle - \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_3 \rangle)^2 + (\pm \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_3 \rangle - \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_4 \rangle)^2 + (\pm \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_1, e_4 \rangle + \langle \nabla_{e_1} e_2, e_3 \rangle)^2$$
(2.33)

We rewrite (2.33) in terms of the coefficients a, b, c, d of the matrix A introduced above (see (2.25) and (2.26)); we get after a short computation

$$\|\nabla_{e_1} J_+\|^2 = 4[(a-d)^2 + (b+c)^2] = 4[a^2 + b^2 + c^2 + d^2 - 2(ad-bc)]$$
(2.34)
$$\|\nabla_{e_1} J_-\|^2 = 4[(a+d)^2 + (b-c)^2] = 4[a^2 + b^2 + c^2 + d^2 + 2(ad-bc)]$$
(2.35)

hence

$$\|\nabla_{e_1}J_+\|^2 \|\nabla_{e_1}J_-\|^2 = 16[(a^2 + b^2 + c^2 + d^2)^2 - 4(ad - bc)^2]$$
(2.36)

We now bound (2.36) using (2.27). To this effect we put

$$a = R_1 \cos \theta$$
 $c = R_1 \sin \theta$ $b = R_2 \cos \alpha$ $d = R_2 \sin \alpha$ (2.37)

and we rewrite (2.36) as

$$\frac{1}{16} \|\nabla_{e_1} J_+\|^2 \|\nabla_{e_1} J_-\|^2 = (R_1^2 + R_2^2)^2 - 4R_1^2 R_2^2 \sin^2(\theta - \alpha)$$
(2.38)

$$= (R_1^2 + R_2^2)^2 - 4R_1^2R_2^2 + 4R_1^2R_2^2\cos^2(\theta - \alpha)$$
(2.39)

$$= (R_1^2 - R_2^2)^2 + 4R_1^2 R_2^2 \cos^2(\theta - \alpha)$$
(2.40)

We now rewrite (2.27) as

$$|R_1 R_2 \cos(\theta - \alpha)| \leq C_{11} \qquad |R_1^2 - R_2^2| \leq C_{11}$$
(2.41)

and this allows us to bound (2.40) and conclude the proof of Prop. 8.

Chapter 3

Harmonic morphisms on \mathbb{S}^4

In this paper we study examples of harmonic morphisms due to Burel from $(\mathbb{S}^4, g_{k,l})$ into \mathbb{S}^2 where $(g_{k,l})$ is a family of conformal metrics on \mathbb{S}^4 . To do this construction we define two maps, F from $(\mathbb{S}^4, g_{k,l})$ to $(\mathbb{S}^3, g_{k,l})$ and $\phi_{k,l}$ from $(\mathbb{S}^3, g_{k,l})$ to (\mathbb{S}^2, can) ; the two maps are both horizontally conformal and harmonic. Let $\Phi_{k,l} = \phi_{k,l} \circ F$. It follows from Baird-Eells that the regular fibres of $\Phi_{k,l}$ for every k, l are minimal. If |k| = |l| = 1, the set of critical points is given by the preimage of the north pole : it consists in two 2-spheres meeting transversally at 2 points. If $k, l \neq 1$ the set of critical points are the preimages of the north pole (the same two spheres as for k = l = 1 but with multiplicity l) together with the preimage of the south pole (a torus with multiplicity k).

3.1 Introduction

A harmonic morphism $F: M \longrightarrow N$ between two Riemannian manifolds (M, g) and (N, g) is a map which pulls back local harmonic functions on N to local harmonic functions on M. Although harmonic morphisms can be traced back to Jacobi, their study in modern times was initiated by Fuglede and Ishihara who characterized them using the notion of horizontal weak conformality, or semiconformality:

Definition 9. (see [B-W] p.46)

Let $F : (M,g) \longrightarrow (N,h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds and let $x \in M$. Then F is called horizontally weakly conformal at x if either

$$1) \ dF_x = 0$$

2) dF_x maps the space $Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}$ conformally onto $T_{F(x)}N$, i.e. there exists a number $\lambda(x)$ called the dilation of F at x such that

 $\forall X, Y \in Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}, h(dF_x(X), dF_x(X)) = \lambda^2(x)g(X, Y).$

The space $Ker(dF_x)$ (resp. $Ker(dF_x)^{\perp}$) is called the vertical (resp. horizontal) space at x.

3.2. MOTIVATION

Fuglede and Ishihara proved independently

Theorem 8. (|Fu|, |Is|)

Let $F: (M,g) \longrightarrow (N,h)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds. The following two statements are equivalent:

- 1) For every harmonic function $f: V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ defined on an open set V of N, the function $f \circ F$ defined on the open set $F^{-1}(V)$ of M is harmonic.
- 2) The map F is harmonic and horizontally weakly conformal. Such a map is called a harmonic morphism

When the target is 2-dimensional, Baird and Eells proved.

Theorem 9. (|B-E|)

Let $F: (M^m, g) \longrightarrow (N^2, h)$ be a smooth non constant horizontally weakly conformal map between a Riemannian manifold (M^m, g) and a Riemannian 2-surface (N^2, h) . Then F is harmonic (hence a harmonic morphism) if and only if the fibres of F at regular points are minimal submanifolds of M.

In Makki-Ville ([Ma-Vi]) we extend Th.9 to the singular fibres if M is compact. There is no non constant harmonic morphisms from (\mathbb{S}^4 , can) to \mathbb{S}^2 ([Wo,Vi]). So Burel [Bu] endows \mathbb{S}^4 with metrics g conformal to the canonical metric σ , for which he constructed many harmonic morphisms from (\mathbb{S}^4 , g) to \mathbb{S}^2 .

3.2 Motivation

Let C be a complex curve in a complex compact manifold M of complex dimension two. The *adjunction formula* [G-H] which relates the tangent bundle, normal bundle and homology class of a complex curve in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ is given by

$$c_1(TC) + c_1(NC) = c_1(T\mathbb{C}P^2)|_C$$

and $c_1(TC) + c_1(NC)$ depends only on the homology class of C in $\mathbb{C}P^2$. In particular, let (C_n) be a family of complex curves in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ such that, for $n \neq 0$, C_n is smooth and $C_n \longrightarrow C_0$ and C_0 has one branch point. Then

$$c_1(TC_n) + c_1(NC_n) = c_1(TC_0) + c_1(NC_0)$$
(3.1)

Exemple 1. Let (C_{ϵ}) given by $z_1z_2 = \epsilon z_0^2$ be a family of complex curves in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ and (C_0) given by $z_1z_2 = 0$ the union of $S_1 = \{z_1 = 0\}$ and $S_2 = \{z_2 = 0\}$. Then we have:

 $c_1\left(TC_\epsilon\right) = 2$

because C_{ϵ} is defined by a polynomial of degree two (C_{ϵ} is a sphere), and

$$c_1(NC_{\epsilon}) = [C_{\epsilon}] \cdot [C_{\epsilon}] = 4.$$

because it is embedded and of degree two. On the other hand, since C_0 is the union of two spheres,

$$c_1(TC_0) = 2 + 2 = 4,$$

and since C_0 has a positive self-intersection point :

$$c_1(NC_0) = [C_0] \cdot [C_0] - 2 = [C_{\epsilon}][C_{\epsilon}] - 2 = 4 - 2 = 2.$$

So that

$$c_1\left(TC_\epsilon\right) + c_1\left(NC_\epsilon\right) = 6$$

and

$$c_1 \left(TC_0 \right) + c_1 \left(NC_0 \right) = 6.$$

By contrast, let M^4 be an oriented manifold.

We ask here what happens if (Σ_n) is a sequence of minimal surfaces which degenerates to (Σ_0) with a branch point ? Here (Σ_n) verify ([Vi2]),[C-T])

$$c_1(T\Sigma_n) + c_1(N\Sigma_n) \leqslant c_1(T\Sigma_0) + c_1(N\Sigma_0)$$

$$(3.2)$$

If we change the orientation on M^4 , but not on the $\Sigma'_n s$, $c_1(T\Sigma_n)$ is unchanged and $c_1(N\Sigma_n)$ becomes $-c_1(N\Sigma_n)$. Hence (3.2) yields the following

$$c_1(T\Sigma_n) - c_1(N\Sigma_n) \leqslant c_1(T\Sigma_0) - c_1(N\Sigma_0).$$

$$(3.3)$$

When a singularity appears, we cannot have equality both in (3.2) and (3.3) because $c_1(T\Sigma_0) \neq c_1(T\Sigma_n)$.

In particular the complex curves C_n 's converging in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ to C_0 as above satisfy the strict inequality (3.3):

$$c_1(TC_n) - c_1(NC_n) < c_1(TC_0) - c_1(NC_0).$$
(3.4)

Now if we change the orientation on $\mathbb{C}P^2$, the (C_n) will still be minimal surfaces in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ and they will verify for the new orientation

$$c_1(TC_n) + c_1(NC_n) < c_1(TC_0) + c_1(NC_0).$$

So we ask

Question 1. When do we have a strict inequality both in (3.2) or (3.3) for the same orientation ?

Exemple 2. Consider the Burel map $\Phi_{1,1}$ and let (Σ_n) be a family of regular fibres in \mathbb{S}^4 which converges to the singular fibre Σ_0 . We shall see below that the Σ_n 's are embedded tori and that Σ_0 is the union of two spheres S_1 and S_2 with two tranverse intersection points of opposite signs. We have

$$c_1\left(T\Sigma_n\right) = 0$$

and

$$c_1(N\Sigma_n) = [\Sigma_n] \cdot [\Sigma_n] = 0.$$

On the other hand:

$$c_1\left(T\Sigma_0\right) = 4,$$

and

$$c_1(N\Sigma_0) = [\Sigma_n] \cdot [\Sigma_n] - 2(1-1) = 0.$$

and

Thus

$$c_1\left(I\,\Sigma_n\right)\pm c_1\left(N\,\Sigma_n\right)\equiv 0$$

 $(M\Sigma)$

 $c_1 \left(T\Sigma_0 \right) \pm c_1 \left(N\Sigma_0 \right) = 4.$

(TTT)

3.3 Burel's construction

Burel was building upon previous constructions on product of spheres by Baird and Ou ([B-O]). He constructs a horizontally conformal map $\Phi_{k,l}$ with $k, l \in \mathbb{N}^*$ from \mathbb{S}^4 into \mathbb{S}^2 by the composition of two horizontally conformal maps F from \mathbb{S}^4 into $\mathbb{S}^3 = \mathbb{S}^0 * \mathbb{S}^2$ and $\phi_{k,l}$ from $\mathbb{S}^3 = \mathbb{S}^1 * \mathbb{S}^1$ into \mathbb{S}^2 .

The key-point of this construction is the change of variable that allows to identify the joint $\mathbb{S}^0 * \mathbb{S}^2$ and the joint $\mathbb{S}^1 * \mathbb{S}^1$.

First we are going to define the Hopf fibration H from \mathbb{S}^3 into \mathbb{S}^2 and then use it to define the map F from \mathbb{S}^4 into \mathbb{S}^3 .

Definition 10. The Hopf fibration $H : \mathbb{S}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$ of the 3-sphere over the 2-sphere is defined by

$$H(z_0, z_1) = (|z_0|^2 - |z_1|^2, 2z_0 z_1).$$
(3.5)

Let $x = (\cos t e^{ia}, \sin t e^{ib})$ a point in \mathbb{S}^3 where $t \in [0, \pi/2]$ and $a, b \in [0, 2\pi]$ then

$$H(x) = (\cos^2 t - \sin^2 t, 2\cos t \sin t e^{i(a+b)})$$
(3.6)
= (\cos 2t, \sin 2t e^{i(a+b)})

We define the map $F: \mathbb{S}^4 \to \mathbb{S}^3$ for $s \in [0, \pi], t \in [0, \pi/2]$ and $a, b \in [0, 2\pi]$ by

$$F\left(\cos s,\sin s \left(\cos t \ e^{ia},\ \sin t \ e^{ib}\right)\right) = \left(\cos \alpha(s),\sin \alpha(s) \ H(x)\right)$$

$$= \left(\cos \alpha(s),\sin \alpha(s)\cos 2t,\sin \alpha(s)\sin 2t \ e^{i(a+b)}\right).$$
(3.7)

where α is a increasing regular function such that $\alpha(0) = 0$ and $\alpha(\pi) = \pi$, with $\alpha(s)$ chosen so that F is semi-conformal *i.e.*

$$\alpha(s) = 2 \arctan\left(\tan^2\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)\right).$$

Now for s fixed we have a geodesic sphere centred at the north pole of \mathbb{S}^4 of radius sin s. The map F sends it to a geodesic sphere centered at the north pole of \mathbb{S}^3 of radius sin $\alpha(s)$. Between the 3-sphere and the 2-sphere the map F is the Hopf map. We now define the map $\varphi_{k,l}$ from \mathbb{S}^3 to \mathbb{S}^2 . We need to define a new coordinate system on an open dense subset of \mathbb{S}^3 which allows us to go from $\mathbb{S}^3 = \mathbb{S}^0 * \mathbb{S}^2$ into $\mathbb{S}^3 = \mathbb{S}^1 * \mathbb{S}^1$, and this by supposing :

$$\cos\alpha(s) + i\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t = \cos u(s,t) \ e^{i\psi(s,t)}$$
(3.8)

$$\sin \alpha(s) \sin 2t \ e^{i(a+b)} = \sin u(s,t) \ e^{i(a+b)}.$$
(3.9)

By changing the variable the point now is of the form

$$\left(\cos u(s,t) \ e^{i\psi(s,t)}, \sin u(s,t) \ e^{i(a+b)}\right) \text{ in } \mathbb{S}^3.$$

$$(3.10)$$

For simplification we write u, ψ, α instead of $u(s, t), \psi(s, t), \alpha(s, t)$. Now let $\beta : [0, \frac{\pi}{2}] \longrightarrow [0, \pi]$ be a regular function of u such that

$$\beta(0) = 0$$
 and $\beta\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right) = \pi$

Note that the domain of β is $[0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ and not $[0, \pi]$ as stated in [Bu]. In the new coordinate system, we define the application $\phi_{k,l} : \mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{S}^2$ by:

$$\phi_{k,l}\left(\cos u \ e^{i\psi}, \sin u \ e^{i(a+b)}\right) = \left(\cos\beta(u), \sin\beta(u) \ e^{i(k\psi+l(a+b))}\right)$$
(3.11)

where $\beta(u)$ is chosen so that $\phi_{k,l}$ is horizontally conformal. For this, β must satisfy the following equation:

$$\frac{\beta_u'}{\sin\beta} = \sqrt{\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}}$$

This equation has an explicit solution given by ([B-O]) see next section

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left\{ \left| \frac{l - p(u)}{l + p(u)} \right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left| \frac{k + p(u)}{k - p(u)} \right|^{\frac{k}{2}} \right\}$$
(3.12)

with $p(u) = \sqrt{k^2 \sin^2 u + l^2 \cos^2 u}$. Notice that the absolute value in the equation is missing in [Bu].

3.4 Computation of β

We now compute the function β and prove (3.12) following the hints of [B-O]. We begin by quoting a result of [B-O].

Lemma 12. Let $F: (r_1S^1) \times ... \times (r_pS^p) \longrightarrow aS^1$ be the map from the product of p circles of radius $r_1, ..., r_p$, respectively, into a circle of radius a, given by

$$F(r_1 e^{i\theta_1}, ..., r_p e^{i\theta_p}) = a e^{i(k_1\theta_1 + ... + k_p\theta_p)}, \text{ for integers } k_1, ..., k_p.$$
(3.13)

Then F is a harmonic morphism with dilation λ given by

$$\lambda^2 = a^2 \left(\frac{k_1^2}{r_1^2} + \dots + \frac{k_p^2}{r_p^2} \right)$$
(3.14)

We define a map $\phi : \mathbb{S}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$ as follows:

$$\mathbb{S}^{3} \ni \left(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}\right) \longrightarrow \left(\cos \beta(u), \sin \beta(u) e^{i(k\psi + lA)}\right)$$

where $\psi, A \in [0, 2\pi]$, k, l are non-zero integers and $u \in [0, \pi/2]$. We begin by solving the horizontal conformality condition for ϕ . For fixed $u_0 \in (0, \pi/2)$, by lemma 12, the restriction of ϕ to the product of circles:

$$\cos uS^1 \times \sin uS^1 \longrightarrow \sin \beta S^1$$

$$(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}) \longrightarrow \sin \beta e^{i(k\psi + lA)}$$

is a harmonic morphism with dilation given by

$$\lambda^{2} = \sin^{2} \beta \left(\frac{k^{2}}{\cos^{2} u} + \frac{l^{2}}{\sin^{2} u} \right).$$
(3.15)

The metric on \mathbb{S}^3 is induced by the metric on \mathbb{R}^4 . By taking derivatives along u, ψ and A, we get the following orthonormal basis of tangent vectors to \mathbb{S}^3 :

$$\epsilon_1 = (-\sin u \cos \psi, -\sin u \sin \psi, \cos u \cos A, \cos u \sin A)$$
$$\epsilon_2 = (-\sin \psi, \cos \psi, 0, 0)$$
$$\epsilon_3 = (0, 0, -\sin A, \cos A)$$
$$\epsilon_3 = \cos u \epsilon_2, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial t} = \sin u \epsilon_3.$$

Note that $\frac{\partial}{\partial u} = \epsilon_1$, $\frac{\partial}{\partial \psi} = \cos u \epsilon_2$, $\frac{\partial}{\partial A} = \sin u \epsilon_3$. We compute $\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \psi}$ and $\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial A}$ and we derive that

$$d\phi(l\cos u\epsilon_2 - k\sin u\epsilon_3) = 0$$

hence the horizontal space H in \mathbb{S}^3 w.r.t. ϕ consists in the vectors tangent to \mathbb{S}^3 and orthogonal to $V = l \cos u \epsilon_2 - k \sin u \epsilon_3$. It is generated by

$$H_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} = \epsilon_1, \quad H_2 = k \sin u \epsilon_2 + l \cos u \epsilon_3$$

We compute in \mathbb{R}^3 that $\langle d\phi(H_1), d\phi(H_2) \rangle \geq 0$. So the horizontal conformality of ϕ reduces to requiring that

$$\|d\phi(H_1)\|^2 = \|\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial u}\|^2 = \frac{\|d\phi(H_2)\|^2}{\|H_2\|^2} = \lambda^2$$

where λ is given by (3.15).

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial u} = \left(\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u}\right) \left(-\sin\beta, \cos\beta e^{i(k\psi+lA)}\right). \tag{3.16}$$

Then the condition for ϕ to be horizontally conformal is

$$\left(\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial u}\right)^2 = \sin^2\beta \left(\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}\right) \tag{3.17}$$

Case 1: |k| = |l|. Then Eq. (3.17) takes the form

$$\frac{1}{\sin^2\beta} \left[\left(\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial u} \right)^2 \right] = \frac{4k^2}{\sin^2 2u},\tag{3.18}$$

which can be solved explicitly as follows. Set

$$v = \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

We have that

$$v\left(\log \tan \frac{\beta}{2}\right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \left(\log \tan \frac{\beta}{2}\right) v(\beta)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\tan \frac{\beta}{2}} \frac{1}{2 \cos^2 \frac{\beta}{2}} v(\beta)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2 \sin \frac{\beta}{2} \cos \frac{\beta}{2}} v(\beta)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sin \beta} v(\beta)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sin \beta} \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u}.$$

Then the left-hand side of Eq. (3.18) is equal to

$$v\left(\log\tan\frac{\beta}{2}\right)v\left(\log\tan\frac{\beta}{2}\right).$$
 (3.19)

On the other hand we have that

$$v\left(\log \tan^{k} u\right) = v\left(k \log \tan u\right)$$
$$= \frac{k}{\cos^{2} u \tan u}$$
$$= \frac{k}{\cos u \sin u}$$
$$= \frac{2k}{\sin 2u}.$$

Then the right-hand side of Eq. (3.18) is equal to

$$v\left(\log\tan^{k}u\right)v\left(\log\tan^{k}u\right).$$

by the substitution in Eq. (3.18) we obtain

$$v\left(\log\tan\frac{\beta}{2}\right) = v\left(\log\tan^k u\right)$$

yielding the solution

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left(\tan^{k} u\right) \tag{3.20}$$

Case 2: $|k| \neq |l|$. Now the reduction equation for horizontal conformality becomes

$$\frac{1}{\sin^2\beta} \left[\left(\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial u} \right)^2 \right] = \frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}.$$
(3.21)

In order to proceed as before, we must write $\sqrt{\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}}$ as a derivative . We pose

$$\sqrt{\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}} = \frac{\partial I}{\partial u},\tag{3.22}$$

then we find an explicit formula for I. First we must evaluate the integral

$$I = \int \sqrt{\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}} du.$$

There are two cases: (a) $l^2 > k^2$. We have _____

$$\sqrt{\frac{k^2}{\cos^2 u} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 u}} = \frac{l}{\cos u \sin u} \sqrt{1 - \frac{l^2 - k^2}{l^2} \sin^2 u}$$

First make the substitution:

$$\sin \theta = \frac{\sqrt{l^2 - k^2}}{l} \sin u. \tag{3.23}$$

For the derivative we obtain:

$$\cos\theta d\theta = \frac{\sqrt{l^2 - k^2}}{l} \cos u du. \tag{3.24}$$

Then

$$\sin^{2} \theta = \frac{l^{2} - k^{2}}{l^{2}} \sin^{2} u$$
$$\cos^{2} \theta = 1 - \frac{l^{2} - k^{2}}{l^{2}} \sin^{2} u$$
$$\cos \theta = \sqrt{1 - \frac{l^{2} - k^{2}}{l^{2}}} \sin^{2} u$$
$$\cos^{2} u = 1 - \frac{l^{2}}{l^{2} - k^{2}} \sin^{2} \theta = \frac{l^{2} - k^{2} - l^{2} \sin^{2} \theta}{l^{2} - k^{2}}$$
(3.25)

Then by using (3.23), (3.24) and (3.25) we obtain the integral

$$I = \int \frac{l^2 \cos^2 \theta}{\cos^2 u \sin u \sqrt{l^2 - k^2}} d\theta$$
$$= \int \frac{l \cos^2 \theta}{\cos^2 u \sin \theta} d\theta$$
$$= \int \frac{l \cos^2 \theta (l^2 - k^2)}{\sin \theta (l^2 - k^2 - l^2 \sin^2 \theta)} d\theta.$$

3.4. COMPUTATION OF β

On the other hand we have the following equality

$$\frac{l}{\sin\theta} + \frac{lk^2\sin\theta}{l^2 - k^2 - l^2\sin^2\theta} = \frac{l\cos^2\theta(l^2 - k^2)}{\sin\theta(l^2 - k^2 - l^2\sin^2\theta)}$$

then we obtain

$$I = l \int \frac{1}{\sin \theta} d\theta + lk^2 \int \frac{\sin \theta}{l^2 - k^2 - l^2 \sin^2 \theta} d\theta$$

The second of these integrals is easily evaluated after substituting $\phi=\cos\theta$ and we obtain

$$I = l \int \frac{-d\phi}{1 - \phi^2} + lk^2 \int \frac{-d\phi}{l^2 \left(\phi^2 - \left(\frac{k}{l}\right)^2\right)} = \frac{1}{2} l \log \left|\frac{1 - \phi}{1 + \phi}\right| + \frac{1}{2} k \log \left|\frac{k + l\phi}{k - l\phi}\right|.$$

 Let

$$p(u) = \sqrt{l^2 \cos^2 u + k^2 \sin^2 u},$$

then

$$p(u)^{2} = l^{2} \cos^{2} u + k^{2} \sin^{2} u$$
$$= (k^{2} - l^{2}) \sin^{2} u + l^{2}$$
$$= -l^{2} \sin^{2} \theta + l^{2}$$
$$= l^{2} \cos^{2} \theta$$

We thus obtain :

$$\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right| = \left|\frac{k+l\cos\theta}{k-l\cos\theta}\right| = \left|\frac{k+l\phi}{k-l\phi}\right|$$

 $\left|\frac{l+p}{l-p}\right| = \left|\frac{1+\phi}{1-\phi}\right|.$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

Hence

$$I = \frac{1}{2}l\log\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right| + \frac{1}{2}k\log\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|$$
$$= \log\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} + \log\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}}$$
$$= \log\left\{\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}}\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}}\right\}.$$

By the substitution of the two side of the Eq. (3.21) and from (3.22) we obtain

$$v\left(\log\tan\frac{\beta}{2}\right) = \frac{\partial I}{\partial u} = v\left(\log\left\{\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}}\right\}\right)$$

yielding the solution

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left\{ \left| \frac{l-p}{l+p} \right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left| \frac{k+p}{k-p} \right|^{\frac{k}{2}} \right\}$$
(3.26)

 $\label{eq:loss} {\rm (b)} l^2 < k^2.$ Similarly, we suppose

$$\sinh\theta = \frac{\sqrt{k^2 - l^2}}{l}\sin u$$

now involving hyperbolic functions, that gives us

$$I = l \int \frac{1}{\sinh \theta} d\theta + lk^2 \int \frac{\sinh \theta}{l^2 - k^2 - l^2 \sinh^2 \theta} d\theta$$
$$= lI_1 + lk^2 I_2.$$

It is easily evaluated after substituting $\phi = \cosh \theta$ and we obtain

$$I_1 = \int \frac{d\phi}{\phi^2 - 1}$$

= $\int \frac{d\phi}{2(\phi - 1)} - \int \frac{d\phi}{2(\phi + 1)}$
= $\frac{1}{2} \log |\phi - 1| - \frac{1}{2} \log |\phi + 1|$
= $\frac{1}{2} \log \left| \frac{\phi - 1}{\phi + 1} \right|$

 and

$$I_{2} = \int \frac{d\phi}{l^{2} \left(\left(\frac{k}{l}\right)^{2} - \phi^{2}\right)}$$
$$= \int \frac{1}{2lk} \log \left|\frac{k + l\phi}{k - l\phi}\right|$$

then

$$I = \frac{1}{2}l\log\left|\frac{\phi-1}{\phi+1}\right| + \frac{1}{2}k\log\left|\frac{k+l\phi}{l\phi-k}\right|$$

Using the following two equalities

$$\frac{\phi-1}{\phi+1} = \frac{p-l}{p+l}$$

 and

$$\frac{p+k}{p-k} = \frac{l\phi+k}{l\phi-k} \text{ with } p = l\phi,$$

we obtain

$$I = \log \left| \frac{p-l}{p+l} \right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left| \frac{k+p}{p-k} \right|^{\frac{k}{2}}$$

By Eq. (3.21) we obtain

$$v\left(\log\tan\frac{\beta}{2}\right) = v\left(\log\left|\frac{p-l}{p+l}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left|\frac{k+p}{p-k}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}}\right)$$

yielding the solution

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left\{ \left| \frac{p-l}{p+l} \right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left| \frac{k+p}{p-k} \right|^{\frac{k}{2}} \right\}.$$
(3.27)

3.5 The Preimages of $\Phi_{k,l}$

In this section, we take a point P in \mathbb{S}^2 and we look for its preimage in \mathbb{S}^4 by $\Phi_{k,l}$. First, we look for the preimage of this point in \mathbb{S}^3 by the map $\phi_{k,l}$ and then we fix a point on this preimage and look for its preimage in \mathbb{S}^4 by the map F.

3.5.1 The preimage of F

We recall definition of the map F in (3.7) $F: \mathbb{S}^4 \to \mathbb{S}^3$ for $s \in [0, \pi], t \in [0, \pi/2]$ and $a, b \in [0, 2\pi]$ and

$$F\left(\cos s,\sin s \ \left(\cos t \ e^{ia},\ \sin t \ e^{ib}\right)\right) = \left(\cos\alpha(s),\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t,\sin\alpha(s)\sin 2t \ e^{i(a+b)}\right).$$

where α is a increasing regular function such that $\alpha(0) = 0$ and $\alpha(\pi) = \pi$

Proposition 9. Let $P \in \mathbb{S}^3$,

- 1) If $P \neq (1, 0, 0, 0)$, then $F^{-1}(P)$ is a closed loop.
- 2) $F^{-1}(\pm 1, 0, 0, 0) = \{(\pm 1, 0, 0, 0, 0)\}$

Proof. We fix $Z \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and let $P = (\cos \alpha_0, \sin \alpha_0 Z)$ with $Z \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $\alpha_0 \in [0, \pi]$. Now we look for its preimage in \mathbb{S}^4 . There exists a unique s_0 such that $\alpha_0 = \alpha(s_0)$.

1) If $\sin \alpha_0 \neq 0$,

$$F^{-1}(\pi) = \{(\cos s_0, \sin s_0 x) : H(x) = Z\}$$
(3.28)

2) If $\sin \alpha_0 = 0$, then $P = (\pm 1, 0, 0, 0)$. Moreover if $\alpha_0 = 0$ (resp. $\alpha_0 = \pi$) then $s_0 = 0$ (resp. $s_0 = \pi$) and 2) follows.

3.5.2 The preimage of $\phi_{k,l}$

We denote by $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ (resp $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$) the north pole (1, 0, 0) (resp. south pole (-1, 0, 0)). We also recall definition of $\phi_{k,l} : \mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{S}^2$ given in (3.11):

$$\phi_{k,l}\left(\cos u \ e^{i\psi}, \sin u \ e^{i(a+b)}\right) = \left(\cos\beta(u), \sin\beta(u) \ e^{i(k\psi+l(a+b))}\right)$$
(3.29)

Proposition 10. The map $\phi_{1,1}$ is the Hopf map so $\phi_{1,1}^{-1}(Q)$ is a great circle in \mathbb{S}^3 . More generally, $\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(\{Q\})$ is a (k,l) torus-knot if $Q \neq N_{\mathbb{S}^2}, S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ and $\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(\{N_{\mathbb{S}^2}\})$ and $\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(\{S_{\mathbb{S}^2}\})$ are great circles in \mathbb{S}^3 .

Proof. Let $Q = (\cos v_0, \sin v_0 e^{i\mu_0})$ with $v_0 \in [0, \pi]$ and $\mu_0 \in [0, 2\pi]$. There exists a unique $u_0 \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ such that $v_0 = \beta(u_0)$. If $v_0 = 0$ (resp. $v_0 = \pi$) i.e. $Q = N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ (resp. $Q = S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$), then $u_0 = 0$ (resp. $u_0 = \frac{\pi}{2}$) and $\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(\{N_{\mathbb{S}^2}\}) = \{(e^{i\Psi}, 0) : \Psi \in [0, 2\pi]\},$ resp. $\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(\{S_{\mathbb{S}^2}\}) = \{(0, e^{iA}) : A \in [0, 2\pi]\}.$ Now assume $Q = (\cos v_0, \sin v_0 e^{i\mu_0})$ with $v_0 \in [0, \pi[$ and $\mu_0 \in [0, 2\pi]$. The preimage of Q is

$$\phi_{k,l}^{-1}(Q) = \left\{ (\cos u_0 \ e^{i\psi}, \sin u_0 e^{iA}) : \mu_0 = k\psi + lA \ \Psi, A \in [0, 2\pi] \right\}.$$

We obtain a torus knot of type (k, l); it is included in the torus on \mathbb{S}^3 given by

$$T_{u_0} = \left\{ (\cos(u_0) \ e^{i\psi}, \sin(u_0) \ e^{iA}) : \psi \in [0, 2\pi] \text{ and } A \in [0, 2\pi] \right\}.$$

3.5.3 The preimage of the North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1, 0, 0)$ of \mathbb{S}^2 by $\Phi_{k,l}$

In this section, we find the preimage of the North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1, 0, 0)$ by the map $\Phi_{k,l}$. We also recall the definition of $\Phi_{k,l} = \phi_{k,l} \circ F$: where

$$\phi_{k,l}\left(\cos u \ e^{i\psi}, \sin u \ e^{i(a+b)}\right) = \left(\cos\beta(u), \sin\beta(u) \ e^{i(k\psi+l(a+b))}\right)$$
(3.30)

and

$$F\left(\cos s,\sin s \ \left(\cos t \ e^{ia},\ \sin t \ e^{ib}\right)\right) = \left(\cos\alpha(s),\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t\sin\alpha(s)\sin 2t \ e^{i(a+b)}\right).$$

Proposition 11. The preimage of the north pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1,0,0)$ in \mathbb{S}^2 by the map $\Phi_{k,l}$ is the union of the two totally geodesic 2-spheres

$$S_1 = \{ (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5) \in \mathbb{R}^5 : x_4 = x_5 = 0 \}$$

and

$$S_2 = \{ (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5) \in \mathbb{R}^5 : x_2 = x_3 = 0 \},\$$

with $S_1, S_2 \subset \mathbb{S}^4 \subset \mathbb{R}^5$.

.

The spheres S_1 and S_2 intersect at each pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (-1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ with opposite signs of intersection.

Proof. We look for a point of the form $(\cos s, \sin s \cos t e^{ia}, \sin s \cos t e^{ib}) \in \mathbb{S}^4$.

Let $Q = (\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}) \in \mathbb{S}^3$ with $\phi_{k,l}(Q) = N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$. Then $\beta(u) = 0$ hence u = 0. The preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ in \mathbb{S}^3 is given for u = 0 by $\{(e^{i\psi}, 0)\} \in \mathbb{S}^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$.

We fix ψ and we look for the preimage of $(e^{i\psi}, 0)$ in \mathbb{S}^4 . Looking at the two equations (4.2) and (3.9), we obtain by a small calculation the following

$$\sin\alpha(s)\sin 2t = 0. \tag{3.31}$$

$$\cos\alpha(s) + i\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t = e^{i\psi(s,t)}$$
(3.32)

Then, $\sin \alpha(s) = 0$ or $\sin 2t = 0$.

- 1) If $\sin \alpha(s) = 0$ then $\sin s = 0$ therefore s = 0 or $s = \pi$. Using (3.32), we have $e^{i\psi(s,t)} = \pm 1$ then, $\psi = 0$ or $\psi = \pi$. Here, we obtain the two poles $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (1,0,0,0,0)$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (-1,0,0,0,0)$.
- 2) On the other hand, if $\sin 2t = 0$ then t = 0 or $t = \frac{\pi}{2}$. Using (3.32), we obtain for $\psi \neq 0$ and $\psi \neq \pi$ two cases :
 - a) If $0 < \psi < \pi$, then $\alpha = \psi$ and t = 0, then, we obtain in \mathbb{S}^4 , $(\cos s, \sin s(e^{ia}, 0))$ where $a \in [0, 2\pi]$ and $s \in]0, \pi[$. Here we have the sphere S_1 punctured at the two poles.
 - b) If $\pi < \psi < 2\pi$, then $\alpha = 2\pi \psi$ and $t = \frac{\pi}{2}$ therefore we obtain in \mathbb{S}^4 , $(\cos s, \sin s(0, e^{ib}))$ where $b \in [0, 2\pi]$ and $s \in]0, \pi[$. Here we have the sphere S_2 punctured at the two poles.

In case one we obtain the two poles $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$. In case two we obtain the two great spheres S_1 and S_2 minus the poles $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$.

Putting cases 1. and 2. together shows that the preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ consists of two 2-spheres S_1 and S_2 intersecting transversally at the poles $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$.

Since, $H_2(\mathbb{S}^4, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$, S_1 and S_2 have a zero total number of intersection points (counted with sign). Hence, $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ are intersection points of opposite signs.

In fact we can check by hand that the two intersection points have different signs. For that we choose a positive orthonormal basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4, e_5\}$ of \mathbb{R}^5 where $e_1 = N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$. We can see clearly that S_1 and S_2 are the intersection of \mathbb{S}^4 with the two subspaces of \mathbb{R}^5 generated by $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ (resp. $\{e_1, e_4, e_5\}$).

Let $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ and $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (-1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ be the two intersection points of S_1 and S_2 . First, for $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} \in S_1 \cap S_2$ we have :

- $T_N S_1$ and $T_N S_2$ are generated by the two positive bases $\{e_2, e_3\}$ resp. $\{e_4, e_5\}$ and $T_N \mathbb{S}^4$ is generated by the positive basis $\{e_2, e_3, e_4, e_5\}$. So the orientation at N is positive.

Now, we take $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} \in S_1 \cap S_2$ we have :

- T_PS_1 and T_PS_2 are generated by the two positive bases $\{-e_2, e_3\}$ resp. $\{-e_4, e_5\}$ and $T_P\mathbb{S}^4$ is generated by the positive basis $\{-e_2, e_3, e_4, e_5\}$. So the orientation at this point P is negative.

Therefore, the two intersection points have opposite signs.

3.5.4 The preimage of the South pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ in \mathbb{S}^2 by $\Phi_{k,l}$

In this section we look for the preimage of the second pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ by the map $\Phi_{k,l}$.

Proposition 12. The preimage of the pole south $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ in \mathbb{S}^2 is a Clifford torus in the equator of \mathbb{S}^4 .

Proof. If $\beta(u) = \pi$, we have

$$\cos \beta(u) = -1$$
 and $u = \pi/2$.

The preimage of this pole in \mathbb{S}^3 , is given for $u = \frac{\pi}{2}$ by

$$\{(0, e^{iA})\} \in \mathbb{S}^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

We fix A and we look for the preimage of $(0, e^{iA})$ in \mathbb{S}^4 . Looking at (3.8) and (3.9), as above we get the two equations:

$$\cos\alpha(s) + i\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t = 0 \tag{3.33}$$

$$\sin\alpha(s)\sin 2t = 1\tag{3.34}$$

Therefore,

$$\alpha(s) = \pi/2 \text{ and } 2t = \pi/4.$$

By a small computation $\alpha\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) = \frac{\pi}{2}$; since α is strictly increasing we conclude that $s = \frac{\pi}{4}$. We conclude that the preimage in \mathbb{S}^4 of the south pole (-1, 0, 0) is a Clifford torus T in the equator \mathbb{S}^3 of \mathbb{S}^4 :

$$T := \left\{ \left(0, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} e^{ib} \right) : (a, b) \in [0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi] \right\}$$

3.6 Critical points of $\Phi_{k,l}$

In this section we are going to find the critical points of the map $\Phi_{k,l}$. To do this, we need to prove the following theorem:

Theorem 10. The set of critical points of $\Phi_{k,l}$ for k = l = 1 is given by two 2-spheres having the two poles as intersection points. Otherwise, if $k, l \neq 1$ the set of critical points are the preimages of the north pole (the same two spheres as for k = l = 1) together with the preimage of the south pole (a torus).

3.6.1 Critical points of F

We investigate the map F from \mathbb{S}^4 into \mathbb{S}^3 given by (3.7). For $0 < s < \pi$, $\alpha'(s) \neq 0$. It follows that all points of \mathbb{S}^4 are regular for F, outside of the poles. We now investigate what happens at the North and South poles.

We look at a neighbourhood of the pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$. Near the pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^4} =$

(1,0,0,0,0), the parameter s is close to 0 so we identify a neighborhood of $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ with a 4-ball centred at $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$.

$$\mathfrak{B}_{\epsilon} = \left\{ sx : (s, x) \in [0, \epsilon] \times \mathbb{S}^3 \right\},\$$

By projection on the last two coordinates we identify a neighborhood of the north pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ in \mathbb{S}^2 to a disc D of \mathbb{R}^2 .

Now consider the regular function

$$\alpha(s) = 2 \arctan\left(\tan^2\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)\right).$$

For $s \sim 0$, we have

$$\alpha(s) \sim 2 \arctan \frac{s^2}{4}.$$

Consequently,

$$\alpha(s) \sim \frac{s^2}{2}.$$

Hence

$$(\cos \alpha(s), \sin \alpha(s)H(x)) \sim \left(1 - \frac{s^4}{4}, \frac{s^2}{2}H(x)\right).$$
 (3.35)

Under the above identifications we write
$$F$$
 as

$$sx \longrightarrow \frac{s^2}{2}H(x).$$

It follows that the North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^4}$ is a critical point for F.

In the second step we look at a neighbourhood of the pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (-1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$, here we are going to use the same procedure that we use for the other pole.

So we identify a neighborhood of S with a 4-ball centred at $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$.

Near the pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^4} = (-1, 0, 0, 0, 0)$, the parameter s is close to π , for $s \sim \pi$, we put $s' = \pi - s$, now $s' \sim 0$, then

$$\sin s = \sin(\pi - s') = \sin s' \sim s' = \pi - s$$

For a small $\epsilon > 0$, the set $\{(\pi - s)x : (\pi - s, x) \in [0, \epsilon] \times \mathbb{S}^3\}$ parametrizes a neighborhood of the south pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^4}$.

The function

$$\alpha(s) = \alpha(\pi - s') \sim 2 \arctan \frac{4}{s'^2} (1 + o(s')) \sim \frac{4}{s'^2} (1 + o(s')) \sim \frac{4}{(\pi - s)^2} (1 + o(\pi - s))$$

or,

$$\alpha(s) \sim \frac{4}{(\pi - s)^2} (1 + o(\pi - s)).$$

We can write F in this neighborhood as

$$(\cos \alpha(s), \sin \alpha(s)H(x)) \sim \left((1 + o(\pi - s), \frac{(s - \pi)^2}{2}H(x) \right).$$
 (3.36)

Under the above identification we write F as

$$s'x \longrightarrow \frac{s'^2}{2}H(x).$$

It's clear that the south pole is a critical point of the map F.

3.6.2 Estimate of β near the endpoints of $\left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$

We recall that $\beta : [0, \frac{\pi}{2}] \to [0, \pi]$ is a regular function of u such that $\beta(0) = 0$ and $\beta\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right) = \pi$. Given by the formula for $k \neq l$

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left\{ \left| \frac{l - p(u)}{l + p(u)} \right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left| \frac{k + p(u)}{k - p(u)} \right|^{\frac{k}{2}} \right\},\tag{3.37}$$

with

$$p(u) = \sqrt{l^2 \cos^2 u + k^2 \sin^2 u}.$$
(3.38)

For k = l the formula is

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan\left(\tan^k u\right). \tag{3.39}$$

Lemma 13. Let $\beta : \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right] \to [0, \pi]$ as above

1) For $u \sim 0$ we have

$$\beta(u) = Cu^l + o(u^l) \text{ with } C \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$
(3.40)

2) For $u \sim \frac{\pi}{2}$, let $v = u - \frac{\pi}{2}$ we have

$$\beta(u) = \pi - C\left(u - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)^k + o(v^k) \text{ with } C \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$
(3.41)

Proof.

1) We shall examine its behavior near a critical point, for this we use Taylor's Formula. We have

$$p^2 = l^2 \cos^2 u + k^2 \sin^2 u.$$

Then, in a neighborhood of 0 we have :

$$p^{2} = l^{2} \left(1 - \frac{u^{2}}{2} \right)^{2} + k^{2} u^{2} + o(u^{2})$$
$$= l^{2} + (k^{2} - l^{2})u^{2} + o(u^{2})$$
$$= l^{2} \left(1 + \frac{k^{2} - l^{2}}{l^{2}}u^{2} \right) + o(u^{2})$$

Then,

$$p = l\sqrt{1 + \frac{k^2 - l^2}{l^2}u^2} + o(u^2)$$
$$= l\left(1 + \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2l^2}u^2\right) + o(u^2)$$

We derive

$$l - p = \frac{l^2 - k^2}{2l}u^2 + o(u^2)$$
$$l + p = 2l + \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2l}u^2 + o(u^2)$$
$$\frac{l - p}{l + p} = \frac{l^2 - k^2}{4l^2}u^2 + o(u^2)$$

and

$$k - p = k - l - \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2l}u^2 + o(u^2)$$

$$k + p = l + k + \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2l}u^2 + o(u^2)$$

$$\frac{k + p}{k - p} = \frac{k + l}{k - l} + o(u).$$

So, we get

$$\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} = \left|\frac{l^2-k^2}{4l^2}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}}u^l = C_1u^l + o(u^l)$$
(3.42)

 and

$$\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} = \left|\frac{k+l}{k-l}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} = C_2 + o(u).$$
(3.43)

We put $C_3 = C_1C_2$, then the product of the two estimates above (3.42) and (3.43) gives us the following

$$\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} = C_3 u^l + o(u^l).$$
(3.44)

Finally, using (3.44) we obtain for $\beta(u)$ the following

$$\beta(u) = 2 \arctan(C_3 u^l) + o(u^l)$$
$$= 2C_3 u^l + o(u^l)$$

Consequently,

$$\beta(u) = Cu^{l} + o(u^{l}) \text{ with } C = 2C_{3}.$$
 (3.45)

2) Now we are going to use the same procedure as in the proof of 1) but this time in a neighborhood of $\frac{\pi}{2}$. Let $v = \frac{\pi}{2} - u \ge 0$. Then, using the trigonometric formulas, we obtain the following

$$p^{2} = l^{2} \cos^{2} u + k^{2} \sin^{2} u$$

= $l^{2} \cos^{2}(\frac{\pi}{2} - v) + k^{2} \sin^{2}(\frac{\pi}{2} - v)$
= $l^{2} \sin^{2} v + k^{2} \cos^{2} v.$ (3.46)

3.6. CRITICAL POINTS OF $\Phi_{K,L}$

Then, for v in a neighborhood of 0, we have

$$p^{2} = l^{2}v^{2} + k^{2}\left(1 - \frac{v^{2}}{2}\right)^{2} + o(v^{2})$$
$$= k^{2} + (l^{2} - k^{2})v^{2} + o(v^{2})$$
$$= k^{2}\left(1 + \frac{l^{2} - k^{2}}{k^{2}}v^{2}\right) + o(v^{2}).$$

Then,

$$p = k\sqrt{1 + \frac{l^2 - k^2}{k^2}v^2} + o(v^2)$$
$$= k\left(1 + \frac{l^2 - k^2}{2k^2}v^2\right) + o(v^2)$$

We derive,

$$k - p = \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2k}v^2 + o(v^2)$$

$$k + p = 2k + \frac{l^2 - k^2}{2k}v^2 + o(v^2)$$

$$\frac{k + p}{k - p} = \frac{4k^2}{k^2 - l^2}\frac{1}{v^2}(1 + o(v))$$

 and

$$\begin{split} l - p &= l - k + \frac{k^2 - l^2}{2k}v^2 + o(v^2) \\ l + p &= l + k + \frac{l^2 - k^2}{2k}v^2 + o(v^2) \\ \frac{l - p}{l + p} &= \frac{l - k}{l + k} + o(v^2). \end{split}$$

So, we get

$$\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} = \left|\frac{l-k}{l+k}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} = C_1 + o(v^2)$$
(3.47)

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} = \left|\frac{4k^2}{l^2-k^2}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} \frac{1}{v^{2k}} \left(1+o(v)\right) = \frac{C_2(1+o(v))}{v^{2k}}.$$
(3.48)

We put $C_3 = C_1C_2$, then the product of the two estimates above (3.47) and (3.48) gives us the following

$$\left|\frac{l-p}{l+p}\right|^{\frac{l}{2}} \left|\frac{k+p}{k-p}\right|^{\frac{k}{2}} = \frac{C_3\left(1+o\left(v\right)\right)}{v^k}.$$
(3.49)

We let $y = \frac{\beta(u)}{2}$ be such that

$$LHS(3.49) = \tan y.$$

We put $z = y - \frac{\pi}{2}$, then

$$\frac{\cos y}{\sin y} \sim -z \frac{1}{1 - \frac{z^2}{2}} \sim -z + o(z^2).$$

Therefore,

$$\beta(v) \sim \pi - 2C_3 v^k. \tag{3.50}$$

Finally, using (3.50) we obtain for $\beta(u)$ the following

$$\beta(u) = \pi - C\left(\frac{\pi}{2} - u\right)^k \text{ with } C = 2C_3.$$
 (3.51)

3.6.3 Critical points of $\phi_{k,l}$

We go back to the map from \mathbb{S}^3 into \mathbb{S}^2 given by

$$\phi_{k,l}(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}) = (\cos \beta(u), \sin \beta(u) e^{i(k\psi + lA)}),$$

where $u \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ and $\psi, A \in [0, 2\pi]$.

We know that the only critical values of $\phi_{k,l}$ are the south and north poles $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}, N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$.

1) The North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1,0,0)$: for u = 0, the corresponding points of \mathbb{S}^3 are of the form $P = (e^{i\psi_0}, 0, 0)$, with $\phi_{k,l}(P) = (1,0,0)$. We now investigate the behaviour of $\phi_{k,l}$ in a neighborhood of such a P.

We take $\eta > 0$ small. We identify a neighborhood of the point $P \in \mathbb{S}^3$ with $[0, \eta] \times [0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi]$ by setting

$$\left(u, e^{i\psi}, e^{iA}\right) \longmapsto \left(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}\right).$$
 (3.52)

Note that

$$(u,A)\longmapsto z = \sin u e^{iA},\tag{3.53}$$

parametrizes a disk in polar coordinates for $0 \leq \sin u \leq \eta$ and $0 \leq A \leq 2\pi$. We write the point of \mathbb{S}^2 as $(\cos v, \sin v e^{i\mu})$ and we identify a neighborhood of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1,0,0)$ with the disk $\{\sin v e^{i\mu} : v \in [0,\eta[$ and $e^{i\mu} \in \mathbb{S}^1\}$.

Lemma 14. In these two coordinates systems $\phi_{k,l}$ can be written in a neighborhood of the North pole $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ as

$$(e^{i\psi}, z) \longmapsto Cz^l e^{ik\psi} \tag{3.54}$$

Proof. For $u \sim 0$, the function

 $\beta(u) \sim Cu^l.$

Then,

$$\sin\beta(u) \sim Cu^l$$

Now $|z| = \sin u$, then

$$\sin\beta(u) \sim C|z|^l.$$

Let $e^{i\psi} \in \mathbb{S}^1$, then we have

$$\sin \beta(u) e^{i(k\psi + lA)} \sim C|z|^l e^{ilA} e^{ik\psi}.$$

Therefore, $\phi_{k,l}$ can be written as

$$\phi_{k,l}: (e^{i\psi}, z) \longmapsto C z^l e^{ik\psi}.$$

2) The South pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$: now for $u = \frac{\pi}{2}$ we get points $Q \in \mathbb{S}^3$ of the form $Q = (0, 0, e^{iA})$, with $\phi_{k,l}(Q) = (-1, 0, 0)$. We now investigate the behavior of $\phi_{k,l}$ in a neighborhood of such a Q. We proceed as above.

We identify a neighborhood of Q with $[0,\eta] \times \mathbb{S}^1 \times [0,2\pi]$ by setting

$$\left(u, e^{iA}, e^{i\psi}\right) \longmapsto \left(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}\right).$$
 (3.55)

Note that

$$(u,\psi) \longmapsto z = \cos u e^{i\psi},$$
 (3.56)

parametrizes a disk in polar coordinates for $0 \leq \cos u \leq \eta$ and $0 \leq \psi \leq 2\pi$. We write the point of \mathbb{S}^2 as $(\cos v, \sin v e^{i\mu})$ and we identify a neighborhood of S = (-1, 0, 0) with the disk $\{\sin v e^{i\mu} \text{ with } v \in [0, \eta[\text{ and } e^{i\mu} \in \mathbb{S}^1\}.$

Lemma 15. In these two coordinates system $\phi_{k,l}$ can be written in a neighborhood of the South pole $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ as

$$(e^{iA}, z) \longmapsto C z^k e^{ilA} \tag{3.57}$$

Proof. For $u \sim \frac{\pi}{2}$, we have

$$\beta(u) \sim \pi - C\left(\frac{\pi}{2} - u\right)^k$$

Then,

$$\sin\beta(u) \sim C(\frac{\pi}{2}-u)^k.$$

Now $|z| = \cos u \sim \frac{\pi}{2} - u$, then

$$\sin\beta(u) \sim C|z|^k.$$

Let $e^{iA} \in \mathbb{S}^1$, then we have

$$\sin\beta(u)e^{i(k\psi+lA)} \sim C|z|^k e^{ik\psi}e^{ilA}.$$

Therefore, $\phi_{k,l}$ can be written as

$$\phi_{k,l}: (e^{iA}, z) \longmapsto C z^k e^{ilA}$$

Г	-	-	٦
н			I
н			I
	-	-	

3.7 Multiple fibres

3.7.1 Smooth multiple fibres

We begin by defining a notion of multiple fibres for harmonic morphisms.

Definition 11. Let $\phi: M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be a harmonic morphism and let p_0 be a critical value of ϕ in N^n such that $\Sigma = phi^{-1}(p_0)$ is smooth, connected and closed. The fibre $\Sigma = \phi^{-1}(p_0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity μ if there exists 1) a neighbourhood U of p_0 in N^n 2) a tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} of Σ and a projection $\pi: \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \Sigma$ such that i) $\phi^{-1}(U) \subset \mathcal{T}$ ii) for every $p \in U$, $\phi^{-1}(p)$ is connected and compact iii) for every $X \in \Sigma$ and every $p \in U$, $\pi^{-1}(X)$ and $\phi^{-1}(p)$ meet at μ points and these intersection points have the same sign.

We let $[\Sigma]$ be the homology class of Σ in $H_{m-n}(\mathcal{T},\mathbb{Z})$. Then for p close enough to p_0 , and by iii), the homology class of $[\phi^{-1}(p)]$ verifies

$$[\phi^{-1}(p)] = \pm \mu[\Sigma]$$
 (3.58)

3.8 Multiple fibres of $\phi_{kl} : \mathbb{S}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$

Proposition 13. We consider the harmonic morphism $\phi_{kl} : (\mathbb{S}^3, g_{kl}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$. 1) The preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1, 0, 0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity l. 2) The preimage of $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity k

Proof. We write the proof for $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ and the proof for $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is identical. We let $\Sigma = \phi_{kl}^{-1}(N_{\mathbb{S}^2}) = \{(e^{i\psi}, 0) \in \mathbb{S}^3\}$. We define a tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} by

$$\mathcal{T} = \{(\cos u e^{i\psi}, \sin u e^{iA}) : \Psi, A \in [0, 2\pi], \ 0 \leqslant \sin u < \eta\}$$
(3.59)

We identify

$$\mathcal{T} \simeq \Sigma \times \mathbb{D}_{\eta} = \{ (e^{i\psi}, z) \}$$
(3.60)

where

$$z = \sin u e^{iA} \in \mathbb{D}_{\eta} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < \eta \}$$

$$(3.61)$$

and the projection π becomes

$$(e^{i\psi}, z) \mapsto z \tag{3.62}$$

We identify a neighbourhood of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ in \mathbb{S}^2 with a disk D in \mathbb{C} ; under this identification, $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is identified to 0. In the above identification of \mathcal{T} , we write

$$\phi_{kl}: \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow D \tag{3.63}$$

$$\phi_{kl}: (e^{i\psi}, z) \mapsto C(z)z^l e^{ik\psi} \tag{3.64}$$

where C(z) is of the form $C(z) = C + o_1(|z|)$, C being a non-zero complex number. Now let $w \in D$. Using (3.64), we can write

$$\phi_{kl}^{-1}(w) = \{ (e^{i\psi}, z) : C(z)z^l e^{ik\psi} = w \}$$

If $(e^{i\psi_0}, 0) \in \Sigma$, a point $(e^{i\psi_0}, z)$ belongs to $\pi^{-1}(e^{i\psi_0}, 0) \cap \phi_{kl}^{-1}(w)$ if

$$C(z)z^l e^{ik\psi_0} = w aga{3.65}$$

We derive

Lemma 16. The equation (3.65) has l preimages.

We now prove

Lemma 17. The intersections of $\phi_{kl}^{-1}(w)$ with the disk $\pi^{-1}(e^{i\psi_0}, 0)$ all have the same signs.

Proof. We write the coordinate z in D as z = x + iy and we compute the derivative $d\phi_{kl}$ on D; it verifies

$$\frac{\partial \phi_{kl}}{\partial x} = Cl z^{l-1} e^{ik\psi_0} + o(|z|^l)$$
(3.66)

$$\frac{\partial \phi_{kl}}{\partial y} = i(Clz^{l-1}e^{ik\psi_0} + o(|z|^l)) \tag{3.67}$$

It follows from (3.66) and (3.67) that $Ker(d\phi_{kl})$ does not contain vectors tangent to a fibre of the tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} . Hence $\phi_{kl}^{-1}(w)$ is always transverse to the fibres of the tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} : since $\mathcal{T} \setminus \phi_{k,l}^{-1}(0)$ is connected, the sign of the intersections of $\phi_{kl}^{-1}(w)$ with one of the fibres of π will be of the same sign. \Box

3.9 Singular multiple fibres

We need to adapt Def.11 to fit the case of a singular multiple fibre. First, we replace the tubular neighbourhood by the following object:

Definition 12. Let $\phi: M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be a harmonic morphism and let p_0 be a critical value of ϕ in N^n ; suppose that $\Sigma = \phi^{-1}(p_0)$ is smooth except at a singular set S of codimension at least 2. An open set \mathcal{T} together with a surjective map

$$\pi: \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \Sigma \tag{3.68}$$

is called a singular tubular neighbourhood of Σ if there exists a sequence of open neighbourhoods U_n of S such that the following is true: i) $S = \bigcap U_n$

ii) for every n, the restriction of π to $\pi^{-1}(\Sigma \setminus (\Sigma \cap U_n))$ is a tubular neighbourhood of $\Sigma \setminus (\Sigma \cap U_n)$.

We now give a modified version of Def.11.

Definition 13. Let $\phi : M^m \longrightarrow N^n$ be a harmonic morphism and let p_0 be a critical value of ϕ in N^n such that $\Sigma = \phi^{-1}(p_0)$ is compact and smooth outside of a subset S of codimension at least 2.

The fibre $\Sigma = \phi^{-1}(p_0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity μ if there exists a singular tubular neighbourhood $\pi : \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \Sigma$ of Σ such that for every $X \in \Sigma \backslash S$, there exists a neighbourhood V_X of p_0 such that for every $p \in V_X$, $\pi^{-1}(X)$ and $\phi^{-1}(p)$ meet at μ points and these intersection points all have the same sign.

3.10 Multiple fibres of $\Phi_{kl} : \mathbb{S}^4 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$

Proposition 14. We consider the harmonic morphism $\Phi_{kl} : (\mathbb{S}^4, g_{kl}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$. 1) The preimage of $S_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (-1, 0, 0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity l

1) The presimage of $N_{s} = (1, 0, 0)$ is a matrice force of matrice field (1, 0, 0) is a multiple flux of multiplicity b

2) The preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2} = (1,0,0)$ is a multiple fibre of multiplicity k.

Proof. Since the preimage of $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is smooth and the preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is not, we treat both cases separately.

1) We recall the map F from the preimage of $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ in \mathbb{S}^4 (which we denote Σ_S) and \mathbb{S}^3

$$F\left(0, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\cos a, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\sin a, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\cos b, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\sin b\right) = \left(0, e^{i(a+b)}\right)$$
(3.69)

We introduce the tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} of Σ_S as $]-\epsilon, \epsilon[\times]-\epsilon, \epsilon[\times\Sigma;$ we parametrize it as

$$(\cos s, y) \times \left(0, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right) \mapsto T_S\left(\cos s, y, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right) \text{ with}$$
$$T_S\left(\cos s, y, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right) = \left(\cos s, \sin s\sqrt{1-y}\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \sin s\sqrt{1+y}\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right) \tag{3.70}$$

Thus the fibre of an element of Σ in the tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T} is parametrized by

$$(\cos s, y) \in] - \epsilon, +\epsilon[\times] - \epsilon, +\epsilon[$$

We fix w close to $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ and we fix e^{ia}, e^{ib} : we look for $\cos s, y$ close to 0 such that

$$\Phi_{kl}\left(T_S\left(\cos s, y, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right)\right) = w$$
(3.71)

We compute $F\left(T_S\left(\cos s, y, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right)\right)$

$$= \left(\cos\alpha(s), \sin\alpha(s)H\left(\sqrt{1-y}\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ia}, \sin s\sqrt{1+y}\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e^{ib}\right)\right)$$

where $H: \mathbb{S}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$ is the Hopf fibration; thus we translate (3.71) into

$$\phi_{kl}\left(\cos\alpha(s), -y\sin\alpha(s), \sin\alpha(s)\sqrt{1-y^2}e^{i(a+b)}\right) = w \tag{3.72}$$

Similarly to (3.65) or rather its equivalent for $S_{\mathbb{S}^2}$, we rewrite (3.72) as

$$C(\cos\alpha(s) - iy\sin\alpha(s))^{k}(1 + o(\|(\cos s, y)\|)e^{il(a+b)} = w$$
(3.73)

This gives us k values for the couple $(\cos s, y)$.

To see that they are all of the same sign, we proceed as in Lemma 17 and we take the partial derivatives of (3.73) w.r.t. s and y. Using the fact that $\sin \alpha(s)$ is close to 1, we see that these partial derivatives are linearly independent. It follows that the fibres of the tubular neighbourhood \mathcal{T}_S are always transverse to the preimages of points w close to S.

This concludes the proof of Lemma 14 1).

We now prove Lemma 14 2) using the definition above of singular multiple fibres. The preimage of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is

$$\Phi_{kl}^{-1}(N) = \{(\cos s, \sin s(\cos t e^{ia}, \sin t e^{ib})) \text{ with } \cos t \sin t = 0\}$$
(3.74)

A singular tubular neighbourhood will be given by

$$\mathcal{T}_N = \{(\cos s, \sin s(\cos t e^{ia}, \sin t e^{ib})) \text{ with } |\cos t \sin t| < \eta\}$$
(3.75)

for η small enough. Since $\cos^2 t + \sin^2 t = 1$, \mathcal{T}_N will split into the union of \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 where

$$\mathcal{T}_1 \ (\text{ resp. } \mathcal{T}_2) = \{ (\cos s, \sin s (\cos t e^{ia}, \sin t e^{ib})) \text{ with } |\cos t| < \eta \ (\text{resp. } |\sin t| < \eta) \}.$$
(3.76)

Note that \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 intersect only at the two poles of \mathbb{S}^4 .

Now fix $p \in \Phi_{kl}^{-1}(N_{\mathbb{S}^2})$. If $p = (\cos s, \sin se^{ia}, 0)$ (resp. $p = (\cos s, 0, \sin se^{ib})$), then

$$\pi^{-1}(p) = \{(\cos s, \sin s \cos t e^{ia}, \sin s \sin t e^{i\theta}) / |\sin t| < \eta\}$$
(3.77)

(resp.
$$\pi^{-1}(p) = \{(\cos s, \sin s \cos t e^{i\theta}, \sin s \sin t e^{ib}) / |\cos t| < \eta\}$$
). (3.78)

The fibre $\pi^{-1}(p)$ is parametrized by

$$z = \sin t e^{i\theta} \text{ (resp. } z = \cos t e^{i\theta}\text{).}$$
(3.79)

We now show that if w is close to $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ and p is of the form $p = (\cos s, \sin se^{ia}, 0)$, with $\cos s \neq \pm 1$, then $\pi^{-1}(p) \cap \Phi_{kl}^{-1}(w)$ contains k points and that these intersection points have the same sign. The proof of the same fact for p of the form $p = (\cos s, 0, \sin se^{ib})$ is identical.

We let $q \in \pi^{-1}(p)$ be a point of the type (3.77); we have

$$F(q) = (\cos \alpha(s), \sin \alpha(s) \cos 2t, \sin \alpha(s) \sin 2t e^{i(\theta + a)}).$$
(3.80)

Changing variables in \mathbb{S}^3 , we have

$$\sin u e^{i(a+\theta)} = \sin \alpha(s_0) \sin 2t e^{i(\theta+a)} = 2\sin \alpha(s_0) \cos t e^{ia} \sin t e^{i\theta}$$

$$= 2\sin\alpha(s_0)\cos te^{ia}z \tag{3.81}$$

where z is given by (3.79). It follows that $|\sin u| < 2\eta$. We also derive

$$\beta(u) = C(1+o(t))[2\sin\alpha(s_0)\cos t]^l \sin^l t.$$
(3.82)

On the other hand,

$$\cos\alpha(s) + i\sin\alpha(s)\cos 2t = \cos u e^{i\psi}.$$
(3.83)

Since t is very small, we derive

$$\psi = \alpha(s_0) + o(t). \tag{3.84}$$

We can now write the restriction of $\Phi_{kl} = \varphi_{kl} \circ F(q)$ to $\pi^{-1}(p)$. To do this, we continue using the parameter z on $\pi^{-1}(p)$ (cf. (3.79)) and we identify a neighbourhood of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ with a small disk D in \mathbb{C} . Using (3.82) we get

$$z = \sin t e^{i\theta} \mapsto C[2\sin\alpha(s)\cos t]^l \sin^l t(1+o(|z|))e^{i[k\psi+l(a+\theta)]}.$$
(3.85)

In other words, there exists a complex number Z_0 (independent of s_0) such that we can rewrite (3.85) as

$$z \mapsto Z_0 \sin^l \alpha(s_0) (1 + o(|z|) z^l.$$

$$(3.86)$$

Hence, if w is a small enough non-zero complex number, more precisely, if

$$0 < |w| < \frac{1}{2}\eta^{l} |Z_{0}| \sin^{l} \alpha(s_{0}),$$

it has l preimages in $\pi^{-1}(p)$.

REMARK. We point out the contrast with the smooth multiple fibre case: the neighbourhood of $N_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ where we look for points with l preimages in $\pi^{-1}(X)$ depends on X and get smaller and smaller as X approaches the singularities of the singular fibre.

This being said, we proceed as in the smooth case to show that the l preimages have the same sign. The map given by (3.86) is a submersion and $\mathcal{T}_1 \setminus S_1$ and $\mathcal{T}_2 \setminus S_2$ are connected. Thus all the preimages in \mathcal{T}_1 (resp. \mathcal{T}_2) have the same sign. Possibly after changing the orientation on one of the 2-spheres S_1 and S_2 , we can ensure that these signs are all the same.

3.11 Appendix

To make this self contained we reproduce the computation of ([Bu]). The metric $(g_{k,l})$ is expressed explicitly in terms of s, t, a, b by

$$g_{k,l} = \frac{2 \left[ds^2 + \sin s^2 \left(dt^2 + \cos^2 t da^2 + \sin^2 t db^2 \right) \right]}{\sqrt{\left(k^2 \sin^2 2t + l^2 \cos^2 2t \right) \left(\sin^4 s \right) / 4 + l^2 \cos^2 s}}.$$

For the map F to be horizontally conformal of dilation λ , the function α must satisfy the following equation

$$\alpha'(s)^2 = \frac{4\sin^2\alpha(s)}{\sin^2 s}$$
(3.87)

the equation (3.87) has an explicit solution, given by

$$\alpha(s) = 2 \arctan\left(\tan^2\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)\right).$$

The associated metric take the form :

$$\bar{g} = rac{\sqrt{2}}{\left(k^2 \sin^2 s + l^2 \cos^2 s\right)^{1/4}} g_{\mathbb{S}^3}.$$

Chapter 4

Harmonic morphisms and Hermitian complex structures on $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$

In this chapter, we investigate the structure of a harmonic morphism F from $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ to a 2-surface \mathbb{S}^2 . Baird-Ou construct a family of harmonic morphism from an open set of $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ into \mathbb{S}^2 . We check that they are holomorphic with respect to one of the canonical complex structure.

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Background

Let M be a 2*n*-dimensional real manifold. An almost complex structure J on M is a tensor field $J: TM \longrightarrow TM$ such that $J^2 = -I$.

Definition 14. Let M be a 2n-dimensional manifold. An almost complex structure J on M is called integrable if there exists an atlas $\{U_{\alpha}, \alpha : U_{\alpha} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}\}$ such that

 $d\alpha \circ J = J_0 \circ d\alpha,$

and the transition functions verify $d(\beta \circ \alpha^{-1})(z) \in GL(n; \mathbb{C})$. Here J_0 is the standard complex structure on \mathbb{R}^{2n} .

For any two vector fields X, Y on M, the Nijenhuis tensor N_J is defined as

$$NJ(X;Y) = [JX;JY] - J[JX;Y] - J[X;JY] - [X;Y].$$

One can prove that N_J is actually a tensor. We have the following theorem of Newlander-Nirenberg:

Theorem 11. (Integrability theorem). An almost complex structure J is integrable if and only if the Nijenhuis tensor N_J vanishes.

Now the vanishing of the Nijenhuis tensor can be viewed as a Frobenius integrability condition:

Lemma 18. The set of the type (1, 0) vector fields is closed under the operation of Lie bracket if and only if $N_J \equiv 0$.

Proof. Let X and Y be two real vector fields and we define the projections

$$P^{1,0}X = \frac{1}{2}(I - iJ)X; P^{0,1}Y = \frac{1}{2}(I + iJ)Y.$$

It is easy to show that

$$[P^{1,0}X;P^{1,0}Y] + iJ[P^{1,0}X;P^{1,0}Y] = -N_J(X,Y) - iJN_J(X,Y),$$

which is equivalent to

$$P^{0,1}([P^{1,0}X, P^{1,0}Y]) = P^{0,1}(-N_J(X,Y)).$$

Hence $N_J(X,Y)$ vanishes if and only if $[P^{1,0}X, P^{1,0}Y]$ is a (1,0) vector.

In \mathbb{C}^n , we have the expression

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - i\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j}), \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + i\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j})$$

or written in terms of J_0 :

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - iJ_0)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + iJ_0)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$

Hence in the local coordinates z_j , the type (1,0) vector can be written as the combination $\sum_k a_k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$ where a_k are complex valued functions on M. The Lie bracket of two (1,0) type vectors is still of the (1,0) type. If Σ is a 2-surface, then the Lie bracket of two (1,0) vectors is of type (1,0), hence we have

Theorem 12. Every almost complex structure on a Riemann surface is integrable.

Definition 15. An integrable complex structure J on M is said to be hermitian if and only if for every p

$$g(JX, JY) = g(X, Y)$$
 for all $X, Y \in T_pM$.

4.1.2 The results

In this paper we investigate harmonic morphisms on open sets of $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$. J. Wood shows that the harmonic morphisms from an open subset of $\mathbb{C}P^1 \times \mathbb{C}P^1$ to a Riemann surfaces are holomorphic with respect to a Hermitian structure.

On $\mathbb{C}P^1$ we have two canonical complex structures $\pm J_0$ then on $\mathbb{C}P^1 \times \mathbb{C}P^1$ we obtain four canonical complex structures. Burns-Bartolomeis show that the only Hermitian structures on open subsets of $\mathbb{C}P^1 \times \mathbb{C}P^1$ are one of the four products of canonical complex structure $\pm J_0$.

On other hand Baird-Ou define harmonic morphism from open dense sets of $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ into \mathbb{S}^2 . We check that they are holomorphic w.r.t. one of these four structures.

Theorem 13. ([B-O]) There are two tori T_1^2 and T_2^2 in \mathbb{S}^3 such that there exists a family of harmonic morphisms $F : \mathbb{S}^3 \times \mathbb{S}^3 - (T_1^2 \cup T_2^2) \longrightarrow (\mathbb{S}^2, can)$ parametrized by quadruples of non-zero integers (k, l, m, n), given explicitly by the formula:

$$F\left(\left(\cos se^{ia}, \sin se^{ib}\right), \left(\cos te^{ic}, \sin te^{id}\right)\right) = \left(\cos\alpha(s, t), \sin\alpha(s, t)e^{i(ka+lb+mc+nd)}\right),$$

where α is given by the solution of Equation

$$\frac{1}{\sin^2 \alpha} \left(\left(\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} \right)^2 + \left(\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t} \right)^2 \right) = \frac{k^2}{\cos^2 s} + \frac{l^2}{\sin^2 s} + \frac{m^2}{\cos^2 t} + \frac{m^2}{\sin^2 t}.$$
 (4.1)

For |k| = |l| and |m| = |n| the equation (4.1) is solved by

$$\alpha(s,t) = 2\tan^{-1}(A\tan^k s\tan^m t),$$

for a positive real constant A.

Corollary 3. In the case |k| = |l| and |m| = |n|, the harmonic morphism of the theorem factors to a harmonic morphism

$$F: (\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2) \setminus \{two \ points\} \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$$

Proposition 15. Let $F : \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2 \setminus \{ two \ points \} \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ a harmonic morphism defined by

$$F\left(\left(\cos s, \sin s e^{iA}\right) \times \left(\cos t, \sin t e^{iC}\right)\right) = \left(\cos \alpha \left(\frac{s}{2}, \frac{t}{2}\right), \sin \alpha \left(\frac{s}{2}, \frac{t}{2}\right) e^{i(kA+mC)}\right),$$

with

$$\alpha\left(\frac{s}{2},\frac{t}{2}\right) = 2\tan^{-1}\left(A\tan^k\frac{s}{2}\tan^m\frac{t}{2}\right)$$

Then F is holomorphic with respect to one of the four canonical complex structures on $\mathbb{CP}^1 \times \mathbb{CP}^1$.

Proof. To prove the theorem, we need to prove that for two orthogonal vertical vectors V_1 and V_2 , we have $J_0(V_1) = \lambda V_2$ where J_0 is one of the four canonical

4.1. INTRODUCTION

complex structures.

The tangent space $T(\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2)$ for $s \neq 0, \pi$ and $t \neq 0, \pi$ is generated by the vector fields $\frac{\partial}{\partial s}, \frac{\partial}{\partial A}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial C}$. We have

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial s} = \left(-\sin\alpha \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s}, \cos\alpha \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} e^{i(kA+mC)} \right),$$
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial A} = \left(0, \sin\alpha i k e^{i(kA+mC)} \right),$$
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial t} = \left(-\sin\alpha \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t}, \cos\alpha \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t} e^{i(kA+mC)} \right),$$
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial C} = \left(0, im \sin\alpha e^{i(kA+mC)} \right).$$

So we need to calculate $\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s}$ and $\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t}$. By a small calculation we obtain the following

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} = \frac{A \tan^m \frac{t}{2} k (1 + \tan^2 \frac{s}{2}) \tan^{(k-1)} \frac{t}{2}}{1 + (A \tan^k \frac{s}{2} \tan^m \frac{t}{2})^2}$$
$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t} = \frac{A \tan^k \frac{s}{2} m (1 + \tan^2 \frac{t}{2}) \tan^{(m-1)} \frac{t}{2}}{1 + (A \tan^k \frac{s}{2} \tan^m \frac{t}{2})^2}$$
$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t} = \frac{\sin s}{\sin t} \frac{m}{k} \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s}.$$
(4.2)

We can choose and easily check that the following vector fields are mutually orthogonal and vertical $(dF(V_1) = dF(V_2) = 0)$:

$$V_1 = m \frac{\partial}{\partial A} - k \frac{\partial}{\partial C}$$
$$V_2 = -\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} + \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} \frac{\partial}{\partial t},$$

Using (4.2) we find that

$$V_2 = \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} \left[-\frac{\sin s}{\sin t} \frac{m}{k} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \right]$$
$$= k^{-1} \sin^{-1} t \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial s} \left[-\sin sm \frac{\partial}{\partial s} + \sin tk \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \right].$$

We let J_0 be one the four canonical structures defined by

$$J_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}) = \frac{1}{\sin s} \frac{\partial}{\partial A}$$
$$J_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}) = \frac{1}{\sin t} \frac{\partial}{\partial C}$$
$$J_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial A}) = -\sin s \frac{\partial}{\partial s}$$
$$J_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial C}) = -\sin t \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$$

4.1. INTRODUCTION

Back to V_1 and V_2 , applying J_0 on V_1 then for some constant $\lambda(k,m)$

$$J_0(V_1) = mJ_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial A}) - kJ_0(\frac{\partial}{\partial C})$$
$$= -m\sin s\frac{\partial}{\partial s} + k\sin t\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$$
$$= \lambda(k,m)V_2.$$

4.1. INTRODUCTION

Bibliography

[B-E] P. Baird, J. Eells, A conservation law for harmonic maps, Geometry Symposium Utrecht 1980, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 894, 1-25, Springer (1981).

[B-O] P. Baird, Y.-L. Ou, Harmonic maps and morphisms from multilinear normpreserving mappings Int. Jour. of Math. 8 (1997) 187-211.

[B-W] P. Baird, J.C. Wood, *Harmonic morphisms between Riemannian manifolds* London Math. Soc. Monographs **29**, Clarendon Press, Oxford (2003).

[Bu] J.-M. Burel, Applications et morphismes harmoniques dans une surface, C.R.Acad.Sci. Paris, **332** Série I, (2001), 441-446.

[C-T] J. Chen, G. Tian *Minimal surfaces in Riemannian 4-manifolds*, Geom. and Funct. Analysis, **7** (1997) 873-916.

[Ee-Sal] J. Eells, S. Salamon Twistorial constructions of harmonic maps of surfaces into four-manifolds, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. di Pisa **12** (1985), 589-640.

[Ee-Sam] J. Eells, J.H. Sampson, *Harmonic maps of Riemannian manifolds*, Amer. Jour. Math. **86** (1964), 109-160.

[Fu] B. Fuglede Harmonic morphisms between Riemannian manifolds, Ann. Inst. Fourier **28** 107-144.

[Gau] P. Gauduchon, Pseudo-immersions superminimales d'une surface de Riemann dans une variété riemannienne de dimension 4, Bulletin de la S.M.F., tome 114 (1986), 447-508.

[G-H] P. Griffiths, J. Harris *Principles of algebraic geometry*, A Wiley-interscience series of texts, Monographs tracts.

[Gro] M. Gromov, *Pseudo holomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds*, Invent. math. **82**, (1985), 307-347.

[G-O-R] R. D. Gulliver II, R. Osserman and H. L. Royden, A Theory of Branched Immersions of Surfaces, American Journal of Mathematics, Vol. '95, No. 4 (Winter, 1973), pp. 750-812. [Han] V.L. Hansen, Fundamental concepts of modern analysis, World Scientific (1999).

[Har] R. Hardt, Some analytic bounds for subanalytic sets, in Differential geometric control theory, Progress in Math. 27, Birkhauser (1983) 259-267.

[Is] T. Ishihara A mapping of Riemannian manifolds which preserves harmonic functions, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. **19** (1979) 215-229.

[M-W] M. Micallef, B. White The structure of branch points in minimal surfaces and in pseudoholomorphic curves Annals of Maths **139** (1994) 35-85.

[McD] D. McDuff, Singularities of J-holomorphic curves in almost complex 4manifolds, Jour. of Geom. Analysis 2 (1992), 249-266.

[St] N. Steenrod, *The topology of fibre bundles* Princeton Landmarks in Math. and physics, PUP (1999; first published in 1951).

[Te] B. Teissier, Sur trois questions de finitude en géometric analytique réele, appendix to the paper of F. Treves, Acta Math. **151** (1983), 39-48.

[Vi1] M. Ville Harmonic morphisms from Einstein 4-surfaces to Riemann surfaces, Int. Jour. of Math. 14 (2003) 327-337.

[Vi2] M. Ville Milnor numbers for 2-surfaces in 4-manifolds arXiv:math/0701896 (2007).

[Wo] J.C. Wood, Harmonic morphisms and Hermitian structures on Einstein 4manifolds, Int. Jour. of Math. 3 (1992) 415-439.